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Author’s Foreword

This book narrates one man’s path to war — Adolf Hitler’s.
The narrative ends at the precise moment when the com-
panion volume, Hitler’'s War,* begins: the evening of 3 Sep-
tember 1939, as he leaves his Berlin Chancellery for the Pol-
ish warfront. Like that volume, The War Path also tries to
describe events from behind the Fuhrer’s desk, and to see
and understand each episode through his eyes. The tech-
nique necessarily narrows the viewpoint, but it does help to
explain otherwise inexplicable decisions. Nobody that |
know of has attempted this before, but to me it seemed
worth all the effort: after all, Hitler’s war sucked in one
country after another, left forty million dead and caused all
Europe and half of Asia to be wasted by fire and explosives;
it destroyed Hitler’s Third Reich, bankrupted Britain and
lost her her empire, and brought lasting disorder to the
world’s affairs; it saw the entrenchment of communism in
one continent, and its emergence in another.

| have approached the main narrative in logical chron-
ological sequence. How Hitler actually came to power in
1933 is merely outlined here — the topic has been profi-
ciently covered by others, particularly Karl Dietrich Bracher
and Wolfgang Sauer. The focus of my research fell on his
years of power, and from 3 February 1933, when Hitler tells
his generals in secret of his ambition to launch a war of im-
perial conquest in the east as soon as Germany is able, the
detail thickens and the colour becomes enriched.

Fieldwork can be expensive and unrewarding, though
it always carries with it the exhilarating hope of sudden

* Hitler's War, published in 1977 by The Viking Press (New York), Hod-
der & Stoughton (London) and in other countries.



revelation. It is an acquired taste. It means bargaining for
years with governments like that of East Germany for per-
mission to search for buried documents; it means long
separations from wife and family, sleeping on overnight
trains, and haggling with retired generals and politicians or
their widows, to part them temporarily from their carefully
guarded caches of diaries or letters. It means leafing
through hundreds of thousands of pages of filthy paper in
remote and chilly archives, intuitively registering egregious
facts in the hope that some of them may, perhaps, click
with facts found years later in another file five thousand
miles away.

In writing this volume | have obtained a number of lit-
tle-known but authentic diaries of people in Hitler’s entou-
rage, including an unpublished segment of Alfred JodlI’s di-
ary; the official diary kept for OKW chief Wilhelm Keitel by
his adjutant Wolf Eberhard, and Eberhard’s own diary,
1936-9; the diary of Nikolaus von Vormann, army liaison
officer to Hitler during August and September 1939; and
diaries kept by Martin Bormann and by Hitler’s personal
adjutant, Max Wunsche, relating to the FuUhrer’s move-
ments. In addition | have used the unpublished diaries of
Fedor von Bock, Erhard Milch, Wilhelm Leeb, Ernst von
Weizsacker, Erwin Lahousen and Eduard Wagner. Many of
these men wrote revealing private letters, too — Frau Elisa-
beth Wagner gave me some two thousand pages of Eduard
Wagner’s letters, significant sections of which turned out to
have been omitted from their published version. Christa
Schroeder, Hitler’s secretary, also made available to me
important contemporary papers, while Julius Schaub’s
family let me copy all his manuscripts and writings about
his twenty years as Hitler’s senior aide. | believe | am the
first biographer to have used the papers of Herbert Backe, a
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state secretary in the Nazi government; | am certainly the
first to have explored the diaries, notebooks and papers of
Fritz Todt, builder of Hitler’s autobahns and his first muni-
tions minister, through the kindness of his daughter, lisebill
Todt.

Some of the most revealing documents used exclu-
sively here in The War Path are the private manuscripts
written by General von Fritsch, which | obtained from a So-
viet source; they relate the entire Blomberg-Fritsch crisis of
1938 through Fritsch’s own eyes. No former Hitler employee
whom | approached declined to grant me interviews; from
the various government archives | obtained detailed inter-
rogation reports on many of them, too. All these records are
now part of the Irving Collection in the Institute of Con-
temporary History in Munich, available with some excep-
tions to other researchers. There, too, researchers will find
the line-by-line annotations originally prepared for this
book (some 1,500 pages of source notes!); these were dis-
pensed with in this volume for reasons of space, but where |
anticipate that the reader will definitely want to know
more, | do point — at the back of the book, from page 465 —
to some of the more noteworthy sources that | have tapped.
Second World War researchers will find that many of the
special microfilms of materials that | prepared while re-
searching this book are now available through E. P. Micro-
forms Ltd., East Ardsley, Wakefield, Yorkshire, England.

There have been sceptics who questioned whether the
heavy reliance on - inevitably angled — private sources is
any better as a method of investigating Hitler’s career than
the more traditional quarries of information. My reply is
that it would, equally, be wrong to deny the value of such
private sources altogether.
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I make no apology for having revised the existing pic-
ture of Adolf Hitler. The postwar world’s view of him has
been so conditioned by our own propaganda against him
that only the cartoon caricature of him prevails; hence any
account based on authentic records of the era is bound to
enhance history’s view of him in some respects — although
it will detract from it in many others. | have tried to accord
him the kind of hearing that he would have got in an Eng-
lish court of law — where the normal rules of evidence ap-
ply, but also where a measure of insight is appropriate.
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PROLOGUE

The Nugget

How can we ever learn what Hitler’s real ambitions were?

No doubt an unrefined black nugget of ambition did
nestle deep within him, but it was well hidden beneath a
thousand shrouds, and repressed by his own personal fears
of baring his innermost intentions even to the most inti-
mate of his friends.

One of the men closest to him, who served him as air
force adjutant from 1937 to the very end, has emphasized
that even when we read of some startling outburst by Hitler
to his henchmen, and we feel we are getting closer to the
truth, we must always ask ourselves: was that the real Hit-
ler, or was it still just an image that he wished to impose on
that particular audience of the moment? Were those his
authentic aims, or was he just seeking to jolt his compla-
cent satraps out of a dangerous lethargy?

So we must go prospecting deep down into the bed-
rock of his history before we can trace to its origins that
consistent seam of secret, consuming ambition of which
the last six years of his life were just the violent expression.
Mein Kampf, written in prison in 1924 and afterward, cer-
tainly reveals some of these secrets, and in later years he
regretted having published it for just that reason; because
the Hitler of the Chancellery in Berlin was more circum-
spect than the Hitler of the barricades, and the Hitler in the
first foothills of power was more subtle of tongue than the



demobilized foot-soldier and agitator of the beerhalls of
Bavaria.

Excellent sources survive, even before Mein Kampf.
The confidential police reports on twenty of Hitler’s early
speeches, delivered in smoky, crowded halls in the revolu-
tionary Soviet Munich of 1919 and 1920, provide a series of
glimpses at the outer shell of his beliefs, which he was still
adapting to accommodate whichever views he found to be
most loudly acclaimed by the two or three thousand listen-
ers he attracted on each occasion. Here Adolf Hitler, just
turned thirty years of age, expressed no grand geopolitical
ideas, no dreams of eastern empire: evidently these ambi-
tions must have grown within him soon after. His agitation
pivoted on the terms dictated to Berlin’s “craven and cor-
rupt” representatives at Versailles; he tried to convince his
audience that defeat in the World War had been inflicted
on them not by their enemies abroad, but by the revolu-
tionaries within — the Jew-ridden politicians in Berlin. This,
1920, was the year in which the National Socialist German
Workers’ Party launched its programme, donned its swas-
tika armbands and organized its own squads to keep order
—the later Sturmabteilung (SA) brownshirt bullies.

Stripped of their demagogic element, the speeches are
significant only for Hitler's ceaseless reiteration that a
Germany disarmed was prey to the lawless demands of her
predatory neighbours. After the victory of 1871, Germany
had been a nation of purpose, order, incorruptibility and
exactitude — mighty, magnificent and respected, healthy
within and powerful without, her engineers and merchants
gradually displacing the British from their accustomed
place astride the world markets by their diligence, upright-
ness and profundity. This, indicated Hitler, was the real
reason why Britain had fought the war; this was the reason



for the Treaty of Versailles. It was the victory of naked force
over justice — the same lawless means that Britain had used
against China in the opium war of 1840, and the means that
had gained for Britain practically one-fifth of the earth’s
surface. In these outpourings Hitler’s envy of Britain be-
came plain — his envy of the national spirit, master-race
qualities and genius whereby the British had won their co-
lonial empire.

Other themes emerged in these early, beerhall
speeches. He demanded that Germany become a nation
without class differences, in which manual labourer and
intellectual each respected the contribution of the other.
On one occasion, in April 1920, he even proclaimed, “We
need a dictator who is a genius, if we are to arise again.”

His sentiments were ultra-nationalist. The new Party
had “German” in its title, he said, “because we want to be
German, and we are going to make war on the Polish-
Jewish vermin.” His targets were not modest even then: he
was going to establish a new German Reich, extending from
Memel in the east to Strasbourg in the west, and from
Konigsberg to Bratislava. In another secret speech, deliv-
ered to an audience in Salzburg — evidently on 7 or 8 August
1920 — Hitler roused his Austrian compatriots with the same
two ideals: “Firstly, Deutschland Uber alles in der Welt. And
secondly, our German domain extends as far as the German
tongue is spoken.”

This Salzburg speech, of which only one faded, fragile
and hitherto unpublished shorthand transcript has sur-
vived, comes closest to revealing his early mind and atti-
tudes. He made the bursting of the “chains of Versailles”
the prerequisite for any reforms in Germany — and foremost
among those reforms he called for the eradication of the
“Jewish bacillus” from their midst:



This is the first demand we must raise and do
raise: that our people be set free, that these chains
be burst asunder, that Germany be once again
captain of her soul and master of her destinies, to-
gether with all those who want to join Germany.
(Applause).

And the fulfilment of this first demand will
then open up the way for all the other reforms.
And here is one thing that perhaps distinguishes
us from you [Austrians] as far as our programme is
concerned, although it is very much in the spirit of
things: our attitude to the Jewish problem.

For us, this is not a problem you can turn a
blind eye to — one to be solved by small conces-
sions. For us, it is a problem of whether our nation
can ever recover its health, whether the Jewish
spirit can ever really be eradicated. Don’t be mis-
led into thinking you can fight a disease without
Killing the carrier, without destroying the bacillus.
Don’t think you can fight racial tuberculosis with-
out taking care to rid the nation of the carrier of
that racial tuberculosis. This Jewish contamina-
tion will not subside, this poisoning of the nation
will not end, until the carrier himself, the Jew, has
been banished from our midst. (Applause)

Language like that went down well. Hitler had laced his
earlier speeches with more abstract topics like the relation-
ship between national strength and international justice,
but he soon found that was not the language the mobs
wanted to hear. In successive speeches in 1920 he called for
the hanging of war profiteers and racketeers; he identified
them as the Jews; and then he began to concentrate his
venom on the Jews as a whole, on the Ostjuden from Rus-
sia, and on the “Polish-Jewish vermin” who had flooded
into Vienna and Germany.

On 13 August 1920, the police reports show, Hitler for
the first time devoted his speech solely to the Jews. First he



developed abstruse racial theories, far above the head of his
beer-swilling listeners. But then he accused the Jews of re-
sponsibility for the war, of having governed Germany crimi-
nally badly and of profiteering. Moreover, he warned, it was
the “oriental wideboys” in the German press who were
even now systematically undermining Germany’s national
soul — dividing and subverting her. Of friendly Vienna they
had made a second Jerusalem; and while Austria’s soldiers
returned to slums, almost half a million Jews — mostly from
Galicia — had flooded in and were now living in palatial
apartments.

These slanderous claims aroused his unruly audiences.
Hitler was encouraged to propose the solution. The Nazi
Party must open a crusade against the Jews. “We do not
want to whip up a pogrom atmosphere. But we must be
fired with a remorseless determination to grasp this evil at
its roots and exterminate it, root and branch.” This was
greeted by storms of applause; so was his recommendation:
“All means are proper to that end — even if we have to agree
terms with the Devil!” A few weeks later he boasted, “When
we come to power, we will charge in like buffaloes.” And on
another occasion he repeated, “We cannot skirt round the
Jewish problem. It has got to be solved.”

Between 1920 and his seizure of power in 1933, the events
need only be sketched in. Adolf Hitler launched an abortive
revolution in Munich in November 1923, was tried, impris-
oned in Landsberg fortress and eventually released. He
published Mein Kampf and rebuilt the Party, riven in his
absence by dissension, over the next years into a disci-
plined and authoritarian force with its own Party courts, its
brownshirt SA guards and its black-uniformed “Pretorian
Guard,” the SS, until at the head of a swollen army of a mil-



lion Party members he arrived at the Chancellery in Berlin
in January 1933, after thirteen years of warfare against his
self-defined targets — Marxist class struggle, Jewish cultural
and economic domination and the fetters of Versailles. It
was no mean feat for an unknown, gas-blinded, penniless
acting-corporal to achieve by no other means than his
power of speech and a driving ambition to fulfil a still-
concealed and dark ambition.

The private letters of Walther Hewel, a nineteen-year-
old student imprisoned in Landsberg with him, show
graphically the extraordinary hold that Hitler already ex-
erted on his followers — a hold that lasted until 1945, when
the writer committed suicide with Hitler. On 9 November
1924, first anniversary of the putsch, he wrote:

At 8 P.M. yesterday, to the strains of the Hohen-
friedberg March played by the prison band, Hitler,
Lieutenant-Colonel Kriebel, Dr. Weber and Rudolf
Hess came over to us. — 8:34 P.M.: the historical
moment when the trucks of “Storm Troop Hitler”
went into action on the eighth. Then Hitler made
a short speech which it is simply impossible to
convey in writing. It left us numb. In a few words
he moved us so much that every one of these of-
ten rough and unruly men went back mutely and
tamely to their cells. For half an hour none of us
could speak. — What would many men have given
to hear this man this evening! As though sur-
rounded by seven thousand people in a circus, so
Hitler stood in our midst in the little room. — To-
day, Sunday, he came over at 1 P.M. and briefly
said: “Young men, one year ago at this moment
your comrades were lying dead amongst you.”
Then he thanked us for having been so loyal to
him, then and now, and gave us each his hand.
And when Hitler takes your hand and looks into
your eyes something like an electric shock strikes



through you, a pulse of power and energy and
Deutschtum [Germandom] and everything that is
strong and beautiful in the world. When he had
done the round, he stepped shortly back: “And
now — a Heil to our dead comrades. Heil!” The way
that man said those few words, it was all over for
us. . . . Perhaps you can’t imagine what it’s like
when men honour their dead comrades, who died
for something they wanted all their lives, for
something of beauty, purity and majesty. Perhaps
you can’t, in your milieu of people who have long
forgotten what Germany is, and imagine they are
serving her by their speechmaking or politicking
or pawning all German property abroad. But what
is so beautiful and reassuring for me is that Hitler
is not the visionary, the utopian, the blind patriot
that people take him for, but a really great politi-
cian, thinker and realist. . . . The terrible thing is
that Hitler’'s enemies know him better than any-
body, and the press — which is of course wholly in
Jewish hands - has defamed and ridiculed the
man. An old trick: first a deathly silence, then
scorn, then all-out war — and then annexation.
(There are Jewish firms that manufacture swasti-
kas.)

On 14 December 1924 the student wrote once more from
Landsberg:

Hitler just joined us again and had tea with the
four of us. He told us about all sorts of people, and
about his friend Scheubner-Richter who was killed
on the ninth. Then he talked about the Mother
and Woman as such. . .. And then you lie for hours
on your bunk dreaming of a Germany that has re-
gained her honour, and is not bogged down in ly-
ing, cowardly and petty parliamentarianism -
dreaming of Germans who are real men, clever
and brave and not riddled with selfishness, and of
German women who are mothers and not whores;



dreaming of a people that love their Fatherland
fanatically, and of leaders of superior intellect that
will fashion this mighty populace into a sword,
and will know how to wield it with cold premedi-
tation. You ask who can lead us out of this dis-
tress. The Leader is Hitler. A short time after his
release from prison, he will have millions of men
around him again. . . . Because there is only one
salvation left for Germany, and that is Hitler.

During those years before 1933, Hitler had fashioned
his plans into their final form. He had set them out in Mein
Kampf, and repeated them more coherently in a 1928
manuscript which he never published. He was as confident
that he would see these ambitions fulfilled as that the
buildings, bridges and monuments that he had neatly
sketched — on postcards in black ink at his desk in Bavaria —
would one day grace the reconstructed cities of Germany
and Austria.

In Hitler’s view, Germany’s present statesmen had put
domestic strength too low in their priorities. He would re-
verse that: a process of national consolidation would come
before any ambitious foreign policies. And so indeed he
acted as chancellor, from 1933 to about 1937, adhering
closely to the theories that he had laid down in the 1920s in
his writings and speeches, whether to mass audiences or
private groups of wealthy industrialists. First he restored
Germany’s psychological unity; on this stable foundation
he rebuilt her economic strength; and on that base in turn
he built up the military might with which to enforce an ac-
tive foreign policy.

It was in Hitler’'s 1928 manuscript that he had set out
his foreign policies most cogently. Of brutal simplicity,
these involved enlarging Germany’s dominion from her
present 216,000 square miles to over half a million, at Rus-



sia’s and Poland’s expense. His contemporaries were more
modest, desiring only to restore Germany’s 1914 frontiers.
For these men Hitler expressed nothing but contempt; this
was the “dumbest foreign aim imaginable,” it was “inade-
quate from the patriotic, and unsatisfactory from the mili-
tary point of view.” No, Germany must renounce her obso-
lete aspirations to overseas colonial markets, and revert in-
stead to “a clear, unambiguous Raumpolitik,” grasping
enough Lebensraum to last the next hundred years. First
Germany must “create a powerful land force,” so that for-
eigners took her seriously. Then, he wrote in 1928, there
must be an alliance with Britain and her empire, so that
“together we may dictate the rest of world history.”

His oratory during these years had developed most
powerfully, as even his most sceptical followers admitted.
His speeches were long and ex tempore, but logical. Each
sentence was intelligible to the dullest listener without in-
sulting the more demanding intellects. The quasi-religious
idea he championed, the suggestive force emanating from
him, gripped each man in his audience. As Robespierre
once said of Marat, “The man was dangerous: he believed
in what he said.”

Hitler’s resilience in power after 1933 was founded, as
David Lloyd George wrote in 1936, on having kept his
promises. He abolished the class war of the nineteenth
century. (Some said he had replaced it by race war instead.)
He created a Germany of equal opportunity for manual and
intellectual workers, for rich and poor. He made no attempt
to curry favour with the intelligentsia. “He doesn’t care a
straw for the intelligentsia,” wrote Hewel, his prison com-
panion, on 14 December 1924. “They always raise a thou-
sand objections to every decision. The intellectuals he
needs will come to him of their own accord, and they will



become his leaders.” Twenty years later, in a secret speech
to his generals on 27 January 1944, Hitler himself outlined
the pseudo-Darwinian process he had hit upon to select
Germany’s new ruling class: he had used the Party itself as a
deliberate vehicle for singling out the future leadership
material — men of the requisite ruthlessness, whose knees
would not fold when the real struggle began.

That was why his Party’s manifesto had been deliber-
ately pugnacious and aggressive.

I laid down the line to take, although there were
those who warned me, “You won’t win many sup-
porters like that.” But | didn’t want them all, 1
wanted to win over a particular nucleus from the
public, the nucleus that is hard as nails. | didn’t
want the others. . ..

That is why | set up my fighting manifesto
and tailored it deliberately to attract only the
toughest and most determined minority of the
German people at first. When we were quite small
and unimportant | often told my followers that if
this manifesto is preached year after year, in thou-
sands of speeches across the nation, it is bound to
act like a magnet: gradually one steel filing after
another will detach itself from the public and cling
to this magnet, and then the moment will come
when there’ll be this minority on the one side and
the majority on the other — but this minority will
be the one that makes history, because the major-
ity will always follow where there’s a tough mi-
nority to lead the way.

In power after 1933, Hitler adopted the same basic
methods to restructure the German nation and toughen his
eighty million subjects for the coming ordeal. His con-
fidence in them was well placed: the Germans were indus-
trious, inventive and artistic, they had produced great
craftsmen, composers, philosophers and scientists. Hitler
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once said that their national character had not changed
since the Roman historian Tacitus had described the Ger-
man tribes who had roamed northwest Europe, nearly two
thousand years before — a “wild, brave and generous blue-
eyed people.” Hitler asserted that if, nonetheless, history
had witnessed the Germans repeatedly engulfed by the tide
of human affairs, then it was because their feckless leaders
had failed them.

The National Socialist movement, he was determined,
would not fail Germany. Just as Moscow’s leaders were re-
educating the Russians to their creed, the Nazis would edu-
cate each German along the same lines, and inject a new
ideological hormone to strengthen him. The German citi-
zen was the basic molecule of the Volk. Into that Volk an
authoritarian order must first be brought, before the great
crystalline lattice of a monolithic and unshatterable Reich
could be created. Just as the soldier must unquestioningly
accept orders, so the citizen of the new Germany would be
trained to obey.

It is hard to define in advance the success of Hitler’s
rule in strengthening the character of his people. But its
effects can be demonstrated by comparison, for example,
with fascist Italy. Mussolini swept into power there with
only a few thousand followers, and never succeeded in
educating or converting the broad mass of the Italian peo-
ple, even in twenty years of fascist rule. In 1943, the flabby
structure of Italian fascism evaporated in a puff of smoke,
after a few air raids and the noiseless overthrow of Musso-
lini. In Germany, however, after only ten years of Nazi in-
doctrination and education, Hitler’s subjects were able to
withstand enemy air attacks — in which fifty or a hundred
thousand people were killed overnight — with a stoicism
that exasperated their enemies. At the end, when Germany
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was again defeated, those enemies had to resort to the most
draconian and punitive methods — mass trials, confiscation
and expropriation, internment and re-education — before
the seeds that Hitler had sown could be eradicated.

Hitler had built the National Socialist movement in
Germany not on capricious electoral votes but on people,
and they gave him - in the vast majority — their uncondi-
tional support to the end.
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First Lady

Here is where Hitler’s path began to lead to war — here in
Munich’s Ludwig Strasse. It is a broad boulevard choked
with the Mercedes, Opels and Volkswagens of the opulent
West Germans; electric streetcars silently glide between
endless rush-hour crowds waiting in the crisp winter air,
surrounded by the clamour of a provincial metropolis. At
one end of the boulevard is the Victory Arch; at the other,
the grimy stone Feldherrnhalle mausoleum. Once, in 1914, a
wan young man set up his easel outside it and painstak-
ingly sketched its gloomy, cavernous porticoes in water-
colours to eke out a meagre living. This Feldherrnhalle had
seen that same young man again in November 1923, as he
and a handful of his followers trudged obstinately toward
the carbines pointed at them by the cordon of Bavarian po-
lice.

Even now the boulevard is little changed. The build-
ings are the same. So are most of the people.

It was here in Ludwig Strasse that — unsuspected by the
silent crowds lining the icy pavements as dawn rose on 22
December 1937 — Nazi Germany jolted imperceptibly onto
the course that was to lead it to ruination. General Erich
Ludendorff, Hindenburg’s chief of staff in the Great War,
had just died, and his simple oak coffin was lying in the
shadow of the Victory Arch, draped with the Kaiser’s col-
ours. Tall black-shrouded pylons flanked the coffin, topped
with bowls of lingering fire. High-ranking officers of the
new Wehrmacht - the Nazi armed services — froze all night
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at each corner of the bier, carrying on silken cushions the
eighty medals of the departed warrior. Special trains were
bearing Hitler and his government through a snowstorm
toward Munich.

The preparations for the state funeral were complete.

Just before 10 A.M. Hitler himself arrived, clad in his
familiar leather greatcoat, peaked cap and leather jack-
boots. Field Marshal Werner von Blomberg, the erect,
greying war minister — the first field marshal to have been
created by Hitler — put up his right arm in salute. General
Hermann Goring, the Luftwaffe’s commander and most
powerful man after Hitler and Blomberg, followed suit;
Goring had marched with Hitler and Ludendorff that
blood-stained day here in 1923. The German army’s com-
mander, Baron Werner von Fritsch, was overseas, so an in-
fantry general stood in for him.

To the thud of muffled drums, six officers hoisted the
coffin onto a gun carriage and Ludendorff’s last journey be-
gan.

The photographs show Hitler walking alone and ahead
of his commanders and ministers, bare-headed, his face a
mask, his eyes set on the Feldherrnhalle — conscious that
one hundred thousand eyes were trained on him. Moments
like these, he once said, were a supreme and silent ecstasy
for him. This, he knew, was what his people wanted to see:
their Fuhrer, followed by his faithful henchmen, sur-
rounded by his subjects, united in a common act of specta-
cle and grandeur. Probably his mind went back to 1923:
here, abreast the royal palace, the hail of police bullets had
met them. Ulrich Graf had screamed, “Don’t shoot!” But six
or seven bullets had cut him down. Scheubner-Richter,
shot through the heart, had staggered back and clutched
Hitler to the ground. Another bullet had struck Goéring. Al-
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together a dozen of his followers had been killed, but Lu-
dendorff had marched on, furious that the Bavarian police
should be firing on him - Ludendorff, hero of the Great
War.

The smoke of the ten pylons flanking the Feld-
herrnhalle curled languidly up into the windless morning
air. Hitler’'s hands were solemnly clasped in front of him.
The coffin was shouldered onto the pedestal. Blomberg
stepped to the waiting microphone, and the ceremony be-
gan.

As the last melancholy strains of “The Faithful Comrade”
died away, a nineteen-gun salute began from the battery in
the Hofgarten, scattering indignant pigeons into the misty
air. Munich went back about its business. Hitler left with
his adjutants for the courtyard where the cars were waiting.

Here Blomberg approached him: “Mein Fuhrer, can |
speak somewhere with you in private?”

Hitler invited him round to his private apartment.
Within five minutes he was in the lift at Number 16, Prin-
zregenten Platz, going up to his unpretentious second-floor
residence.

Blomberg did not beat about the bush. He informed
Hitler — as his superior — that he would like to marry again
(his wife had died five years ago), and he asked Hitler’s
permission as a formality. Hitler had known for some time
that his war minister was having an affair. In fact Blomberg
had come straight from the young female’s side, at a resort
hotel in Oberhof, to attend the funeral. Blomberg warned
him that she was of modest background - a secretary
working for a government agency — but was this not what
National Socialism was all about? Hitler gave his consent
without hesitation. Far better, he reflected, for Blomberg to
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take a simple wife than to err like so many other top gener-
als. Ludendorff’s second wife had dabbled in black magic;
Wilhelm Groener had been obliged to marry his trained
nurse shortly before the birth of their child; Hans von
Seeckt had married a Jewess, and the final breach between
Seeckt and Kurt von Schleicher had been a row over a mis-
tress.

With Blomberg, Hitler had established close rapport.
This explains why both he and Goéring agreed to act as wit-
nesses at the wedding, although it was shrouded in some-
thing like secrecy. The bride was twenty-four, while Blom-
berg was nearly sixty. The little ceremony took place behind
closed doors at the War Ministry in Berlin on 12 January
1938. GOring even left his own grandiose birthday luncheon
to attend. Otherwise, Hitler found only the minister’s ad-
jutants and Blomberg’s family present. The bride was un-
doubtedly attractive: she was slim, with fair hair, a broad
forehead, grey-blue eyes, a petite nose and a generous
mouth. The couple departed immediately on their honey-
moon, not knowing that their marriage would later be con-
strued as having set Adolf Hitler on the final approach to
absolute power in Germany.

The minute-by-minute sequence of the next few days
can be reconstructed from the diaries of the adjutant of
Blomberg’s chief of staff — General Wilhelm Keitel — and the
police file on the girl that Blomberg had married. Their
honeymoon was soon interrupted by the unexpected death
of Blomberg’s mother. Blomberg took Keitel to her funeral
on 20 January at Eberswalde, thirty miles from Berlin. He
remained there for four days, putting her affairs in order.
When he returned on the twenty-fourth, some disturbing
news must have awaited him because he immediately ap-
plied for an urgent audience with Hitler. But the FUhrer was
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away from Berlin until evening, and in the event it was
Hermann Goring who got to Hitler with the news first.

Hitler had returned to Munich briefly to open the great arts
and crafts exhibition.

When his car now drew up outside the Berlin Chan-
cellery late on 24 January 1938, he found that the crisis was
upon him. Goring was waiting, with a buff folder in his
hands. So was Colonel Friedrich Hossbach, the Fuhrer’s
military adjutant. Hitler motioned the latter to wait and
took Goring into the privacy of his study. Goéring an-
nounced: “Blomberg has married a whore! Our new first
lady has a police record. He tricked us into acting as wit-
nesses.”

What had happened in Blomberg’s absence was this:
three days earlier, the police president of Berlin, Count
Wolf von Helldorf, had called to see Blomberg — but could
not, as he was still at Eberswalde. So at 4:15 P.M. he had
shown Keitel an innocuous police-file card — a change-of-
address record — and asked if Keitel could confirm that the
lady in the photograph was the new Frau von Blomberg.
Keitel however had only seen her at the funeral, heavily
veiled. He suggested Goring, as he had been at the wedding.
Helldorf then explained to Keitel that something of the
woman’s past had just come to light now that she had reg-
istered her change of address to Blomberg’s apartment in
the War Ministry building. He visited Goring the next
morning, 22 January, and gave him the complete police
dossier on Fraulein Eva Gruhn - as she had been before.

As Hitler opened the buff folder now, on 24 January, a
collection of file cards, photographs and printed forms met
his eyes. There were fingerprint records and photographs of
the full-face and profile type associated with Wanted no-
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tices. There were also half a dozen loose glossy photographs
showing a woman in various sexual poses with an uniden-
tified man and a wax candle.

It is too much to expect that Hitler read the folder
closely enough to grasp the human story it conveyed. The
initial impression was overwhelming. The police state-
ments were a stark mirror image of a Berlin society in the
grips of economic crisis. Fraulein Gruhn’s father had been
killed in the war when she was five. She was a problem
child. Her mother was a registered masseuse, specializing
in treating women and cripples. (The eager police investi-
gation conducted that very day had found no indication
whatever that it was the kind of “massage parlour” that
later prurient minds were to make of it.) In 1932 Eva had left
home at eighteen and moved into a rented Wilhelm-Strasse
apartment with her lover, a Czech Jew of forty-one, one
Heinrich Lowinger. Later that year he had been offered
pornographic photographs, and it struck him that this was
an easy way to make money. He had hired a Polish photog-
rapher, Ernst Mikler, and the pictures were taken one
Christmas afternoon. Lowinger promised the girl a per-
centage, and swore not to sell the pictures in Berlin. He had
sold only eight, at eighty pfennigs apiece — in Berlin — when
he was pulled in with his accomplices. The misguided Eva
Gruhn was released almost immediately. The only other
items in the dossier were search notices relating to her
having left home while under-age, and a 1934 police data
card which clearly states that she had “no criminal rec-
ord.” According to the dossier, she was now a steno-typist,
and had last visited her mother on g January with her future

* Researches in the police files of major German cities have produced
no substantiation for the legend that she was a “police-registered pros-
titute”; this is not to say that Hitler was not given that impression at the
time.
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husband: “And we all know who that is,” somebody had
scribbled in the margin.

All this was very old hat. But for Hitler — eagerly
prompted by Goéring — there was only one conclusion.
Blomberg had knowingly married a woman who was not fit
to be an officer’s wife, and had inveigled them both into
giving their blessing and approval. As he turned page after
page, he became visibly angry. Handing it back to Goring,
he exclaimed: “Is there nothing | can be spared?” Hitler ac-
companied Goéring silently back to the entrance hall, then
withdrew to his private quarters. His mind was in turmoil,
he later said. He was stunned that Blomberg could have
done this to him - Blomberg, who had done most to recon-
cile the Wehrmacht to the Nazi Party. Now he had brought
shame on the whole Wehrmacht.

Clearly, as Goring had said, the field marshal would
have to resign; but who could succeed him as war minister?
Heinrich Himmler, the all-powerful Reichsfuhrer of the
black-uniformed SS, was one candidate. So, of course, was
Goring. First in line was General von Fritsch, the army’s
commander, but his old-fashioned outlook on modern war
technology militated against him. He had not grasped the
significance of the tank. Hitler had a deep respect for
Fritsch — but he had one distasteful skeleton in the cup-
board, a skeleton of which Goéring had probably just re-
minded Hitler.*

If Fritsch was now to become war minister, then it
could be ignored no longer: two years earlier, during the

* In his confidential handwritten notes of these dramatic weeks, which
were removed to Moscow from Potsdam in 1945 and were released to
me by a Soviet source, Fritsch surprisingly denied any ambition to suc-
ceed Blomberg or stand in Goéring’s way: “l would have refused such an
appointment since, in view of the Party’s attitude to me, the obstacles
would have been insuperable.”
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1936 crisis of Hitler’s remilitarization of the Rhineland, the
SS chief Heinrich Himmler had shown him a police dossier
linking Fritsch with a homosexual blackmailer. At that time
Hitler had refused to look into it, to avoid burdening the
military command at such a time of crisis. As recently as
December 1937 — though here the evidence is weaker —
Himmler had again brought the dossier, and stressed the
security risk involved if Fritsch was a homosexual. Hitler
suspected that the Party was just settling scores against
Fritsch, as one of their harshest critics; he demanded the
destruction of the dossier, and written confirmation to that
effect. But the Party persisted; the SS had shadowed Fritsch
on his recent winter cruise to Egypt, and Blomberg was per-
suaded to ask Hitler to replace the anti-Party adjutant of
both Fritsch and Hitler, Colonel Hossbach, by a less hostile
officer.

Hitler had not seen Fritsch since 15 January 1938, when
they had had a two-hour argument. Fritsch described it
thus:

When | came to the replacement of Hossbach, the
Fuhrer angrily began talking about his worries at
the spread of anarchist propaganda in the army. |
tried in vain to calm him down. | asked for con-
crete evidence, for me to look into. The Fuhrer
said that he did have such material, but he could
not give it to me, only to Blomberg. In other
words, an open vote of No Confidence in me. |
had no intention of leaving it at that. | planned to
ask the Fuhrer for his open confidence in me,
failing which I would resign. But it never came to
that, because | couldn’t reach the Fuhrer any
more until 26 January.

Hitler decided to have it all out with Fritsch. At 2:15 A.M.
on 25 January, he told an aide to summon the adjutant
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Hossbach by telephone to the Chancellery. But the colonel
was in bed, and stubbornly declined to come round before
next morning.

Hitler had no choice but to brood all night on the di-
lemma. He lay awake until dawn, staring at the ceiling and
worrying about how to avoid tarnishing his own prestige.

Several times the next day, 25 January 1938, GOring eagerly
came back to see him. At 11 AM. he reported that he had
seen Keitel and instructed him to have a talk with the un-
fortunate war minister. By early afternoon he had been to
see Blomberg himself — he reported — and told him he must
resign; the Fuhrer had advised Blomberg to go abroad for a
year, to avoid a public scandal. Goring related to Hitler that
the minister had admitted everything — he was a broken
man. It is unlikely that Goring admitted his own part in the
marriage — how Blomberg had persuaded him to remove
the main rival to Fraulein Gruhn’s affections, by securing a
well-paid job for the man in South America.

This again left the matter of a successor. In Hossbach’s
presence, Goring now furnished to Hitler the Gestapo dos-
sier on the homosexual linked to Fritsch’s name in 1936. It
was the second time in twenty-four hours that Géring had
pressed such dynamite into Hitler’s unwilling hands. The
folder was evidently a recent reconstruction, containing
several carbon copies of interrogations, affidavits and
photostats, all unsigned. A certain blackmailer, Otto
Schmidt, had been arrested in 1936 and had then recounted
in sickening detail the homosexual exploits of one “General
von Fritsch,” as witnessed by himself in Berlin in November
1933. He had accosted the general, introduced himself as
“Detective Inspector Kroger” and threatened to arrest him.
The general had produced an army ID card and blustered,
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“I am General von Fritsch.” He had bribed Schmidt with
2,500 marks collected from his bank in the Berlin suburb of
Lichterfelde. An accomplice bore Schmidt’s story out.
Shown photographs of Fritsch, the blackmailer had identi-
fied him as the general. As Goring pointed out to Hitler,
Schmidt’s evidence had proved true in sixty other cases.
The dossier, in short, was damning.

Even so, Hitler was uncertain. He ordered Goéring to
question Schmidt in detail; and he forbade Hossbach to
mention the matter to Fritsch, as he wanted to confront the
general in person and study his reactions. Unfortunately
Hossbach that same evening confided, rather incoherently,
to Fritsch that allegations had been made about improper
behaviour with a young man in November 1933; and this
incomplete prior knowledge was to have fateful conse-
quences for Fritsch. He concluded that a certain member of
the Hitler Youth was behind the complaint: in 1933, in re-
sponse to the Party’s appeal for winter welfare assistance,
he had agreed to feed one Berliner; subsequently he had
arranged for the youth - Fritz Wermelskirch — an appren-
ticeship at a Mercedes-Benz factory at Marienfelde. The
youth had then turned to crime, and when he bragged to
underworld friends that he had a high-ranking benefactor,
Fritsch severed all connections with him. That had been
three years ago.

Hitler was unaware of that. The blackmailer in his dos-
sier was called Schmidt; the accomplice was Bucker, and
the homosexual male prostitute involved was one
Weingartner.

Next morning, to his credit, Hossbach frankly admitted
to Hitler that he had warned Fritsch. But he described how
the general had hotly rejected the allegation as “a stinking
lie,” and had added: “If the FUhrer wants to get rid of me,
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one word will suffice and | will resign.” At this, Hitler an-
nounced with evident relief, “Then everything is all right.
General von Fritsch can become minister after all.”

During the day, however, other counsels prevailed.

Blomberg played his part in them. He was ushered into
Hitler’s library in plain clothes, to take formal leave of the
FUhrer. At first Blomberg angrily criticized the manner in
which he had been dismissed, and Hitler responded with
equal acrimony. Then ire gave way to sorrow and Hitler —
who genuinely feared that Blomberg might take his own life
— tried to console him. He hinted that when Germany’s
hour came he would like to see Blomberg at his side again,
and then bygones could be bygones.

The discussion turned to a successor. Blomberg re-
marked that Goéring was next in line. Hitler retorted,
“Goring has neither the necessary perseverance nor the ap-
plication.” As for Fritsch, said Hitler, there was now some
belief that he was a secret homosexual. To this Blomberg
evenly replied that he could quite believe it. (Hitler was not
alone in having accepted the blackmailer’s evidence, prima
facie: even Hossbach went down into the adjutants’ smok-
ing room that day, slumped into the red leather sofa and
drew “8175” — the penal code clause on homosexuality -
with his forefinger in the air, adding, “Von Fritsch!” to his
fellow adjutants.)

Thus the word of the C-in-C of the German army, his
monocle firmly screwed into his eye, ramrod stiff as a Prus-
sian soldier should be, came to be tested against the utter-
ances of a convict — the general nine years Hitler’s senior,
his accuser Otto Schmidt by now aged thirty-one, pale and
puffy from years of incarceration.
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Late on 26 January, Fritsch was summoned to the li-
brary of the Chancellery. Géring and Hitler awaited him.
Fritsch himself wrote this hitherto unpublished account of
the famous scene:

| was eventually called in at about 8:30 p.m. The

Fuhrer immediately announced to me that | had

been accused of homosexual activities. He said he

could understand everything, but he wanted to
hear the truth. If | admitted the charges against

me, | was to go on a long journey and nothing

further would happen to me. Goring also ad-

dressed me in the same vein.
I emphatically denied any kind of homosex-

ual activities and asked who had accused me of

them. The Fuhrer replied that it made no differ-

ence who the accuser was. He wished to know
whether there was the slightest ground for these
allegations.

Fritsch remembered Wermelskirch. “Mein Fuhrer,” he
replied, “this can only be a reference to that affair with a
Hitler Youth!”

This was not the heated denial Hitler had expected.
Distracted beyond all measure already by the Blomberg
scandal, he was dumb-founded by Fritsch’s answer. Otto
Schmidt, the man in the Gestapo dossier, was no Hitler
Youth. Hitler thrust the folder into Fritsch’s hands. The
general rapidly scanned it, purpled, and dismissed it all as a
complete fabrication. But now the fat was in the fire. Hitler
was suspicious, and Goéring “acted,” as Fritsch was to recall
in puzzlement the next day, “as though there was a mass of
other things in the files as well.”

At a signal from Hitler the convicted blackmailer him-
self was led into the library. Schmidt pointed unerringly at
the general and exclaimed, “That’s the one.”

g
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From that moment on, Hitler lost much of his awe of the
army’s generals, he afterward confessed. “Homosexuals big
and small — they’ll always lie on principle,” he argued.

When Hossbach urged him at least to give a hearing to
General Ludwig Beck, the Chief of the General Staff, the
very telephone call to Beck’s home at Lichterfelde stirred
fresh suspicions in Hitler’s tortured mind: had not the
blackmail money been collected from a bank at Lichter-
felde? He interrogated Beck about when he had last lent
money to his C-in-C. The puzzled general could only reply
that he had never done so.

The minister of justice, Dr. Franz Gurtner, read the
dossier too, and duly reported that prima facie there was
enough evidence to indict the general.

Fritsch’s own pathetic story continues,

| gave the Fuhrer my word of honour that I had
nothing to do with this affair whatever. Con-
fronted with the allegations of a habitual crook,
my word was brushed aside as of no consequence.
| was ordered to report to the Gestapo next
morning, where | would be told more details. |
demanded a thorough investigation to clear it all
up beyond a shadow of doubt. Deeply shaken at
the abruptness displayed by the Fuhrer and
Goring toward me, | went home and informed
Major [Curt] Siewert [his personal chief of staff] in
brief about the allegations. Soon afterward | also
informed General Beck. | mentioned to both that
it might be best for me to shoot myself, in view of
the unheard-of insult from the Fuhrer. Both these
gentlemen argued against such a step, and | had
to agree with them: the Fuhrer and the people
influencing him would have seen in my suicide
the final and welcome proof that | was guilty.
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Fritsch saw no alternative but to stand and fight: he
demanded a full court martial to clear his name. Several
weeks passed before the inquiry was convened, and before
then the investigation would take a most unexpected turn.
Only now, with the help of the previously unknown Fritsch
manuscripts from Moscow and the diary of Keitel’s adju-
tant, Wolf Eberhard, can the intricate sequence of events be
fully pieced together.

Meanwhile, the damage had been done. Through this ex-
traordinary chain of events - it cannot safely be called coin-
cidence — Hitler’s control over the German armed forces,
the Wehrmacht, became absolute.

When he sent the next morning, 27 January 1938, for
Blomberg again to discuss a successor, the field marshal
reminded Hitler — probably more out of anger at the hide-
bound General Staff than from any personal conviction —
that since President Hindenburg’s death the Fuhrer was
constitutionally Supreme Commander of the Wehrmacht
already. If he appointed no new war minister, then he
would have direct control of the armed forces.

“I’ll think that over,” replied Hitler. “But if | do that,
then I’ll be needing a good Wehrmacht chief of staff.”

“General Keitel,” suggested Blomberg. “He’s done that
job for me. He’s a hard worker and he knows his stuff.”

As Blomberg left the Chancellery for the last time, he
noticed that the sentries did not present arms to him.

Hitler received Keitel at 1 .M. Wilhelm Keitel was a tall,
handsome general of unmistakably soldierly bearing al-
though he had been ordered to come in plain clothes. Six
years older than the Fuhrer, Keitel had headed the army’s
organization branch during the recent expansion. He was a
champion of a unified Wehrmacht command - to Hitler
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this was important. Hitler asked him who ought to succeed
Blomberg, and Keitel too offered Géring’s name.

“No, that is out of the question,” replied Hitler. “I don’t
think Goring has the ability. I will probably take on Blom-
berg’s job myself.”

He also asked Keitel to find him a new adjutant. Colo-
nel Hossbach’s loyalty evidently lay with his C-in-C, rather
than with his Fuhrer. Keitel picked Major Rudolf Schmundt.
Forty-two, big-eared and capable, the new Wehrmacht ad-
jutant was to wield a psychological influence over Hitler
that has passed largely unobserved by military historians.

Hitler — Keitel — Schmundt: the links of the chain of
command were coming together. But over Fritsch’s posi-
tion — the next link — hung a question mark.

As Hitler had ordered, General von Fritsch submitted to Ge-
stapo interrogation that morning, 27 January. Concealed
microphones recorded every word on discs. The 83-page
transcript has survived, revealing the drama as the baron
was again confronted with the blackmailer: Otto Schmidt
still stuck to his story despite the sternest warnings from Dr.
Werner Best of the Gestapo on the consequences of lying.
Schmidt described how the general he had seen in 1933
wore a monocle, a fur-collared coat and a stiff dark hat. He
had smoked at least one cigar during the blackmail bar-
gaining. The alleged homosexual act was again described
by Schmidt: “This Bavarian twerp,” referring to the male
prostitute Weingartner, “was standing up and the man
knelt down in front of him and was sucking at it . . .” to
which Fritsch could only expostulate, “How dare he suggest
such a thing! That is supposed to have been me?”

He conducted part of the questioning himself. More
than once he commented bitterly, “It’s strange that my
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word should count for less than the word of this scoundrel.”
None of Schmidt’s details fitted him. For example, he had
not smoked even a cigarette since 1925. But he frankly ad-
mitted that Schmidt’s evidence appeared damning. “I must
admit that if pressure has been brought to bear on him
from some source or other to tell a lie, then he’s doing it
damnably cleverly.”

Perhaps no utterance reveals his own uprightness
better than one sad reflection: “One thing does seem clear -
that it was at least an officer involved.”

Unknown to him the two other “witnesses” had been
posted unobtrusively in the Gestapo HQ where they could
see him. Weingartner was emphatic that this was not his
client of 1933. Buicker detected a certain resemblance, but
would not swear to it. Hitler was not informed of this am-
bivalent outcome. “If the Fuhrer had only been told of these
two facts,” Fritsch later wrote, “then his decision would
surely have been very different, in view of the word of hon-
our | had given him.”

But Hitler had already written off Fritsch. On 28 Janu-
ary he was already discussing a short-list of successors as C-
in-C, army.

His first choice was General Walter von Reichenau -
Keitel’s predecessor at the war ministry. Keitel advised
against him, as he was too closely identified with the Nazi
Party to meet with army approval. His own candidate was
General Walther von Brauchitsch, a stolid, widely respected
officer whose reputation was founded on his period as
army commander in the isolated province of East Prussia.
In fact Keitel had already telephoned him urgently to take
the next train from Dresden; he arrived at a quarter to nine
that evening.
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At first sight Brauchitsch did appear the ideal choice.
Next morning Keitel repeated to Hitler the answers given by
the general under close questioning; in particular Brauch-
itsch was willing to tie the army closer to the Nazi state and
its ideals, and he was not averse to getting rid of General
Viktor von Schwedler as chief of army personnel — the ma-
jor obstacle to Hitler’s exercising complete control over
senior army appointments — but Brauchitsch was only
lukewarm on the issue of a unified Wehrmacht command.

Hitler sent for Brauchitsch. But now the general men-
tioned that he too had delicate personal difficulties: he
wanted a divorce to marry a Frau Charlotte Ruffer, herself a
divorcée. Hitler saw no problem, but Brauchitsch explained
that his first wife must be settled financially — and this, he
hinted, he could not afford. All in all the last week of Janu-
ary 1938 must have left in Hitler’s prim and prudish mind a
remarkable impression of the private lives of his generals.

Brauchitsch’s nomination by Keitel thus appeared to
have foundered. The jostling for Fritsch’s office resumed.
Reichenau was seen haunting the war ministry building.
Goring sent his loyal aide Colonel Karl Bodenschatz to drop
hints amongst Hitler’'s adjutants that Goring might take
over the army too. Admiral Erich Raeder, the navy’s C-in-C,
sent an adjutant to propose the revered but cantankerous
General Gerd von Rundstedt as an interim tenant for the
job. The adjutant found Hitler brooding in his private
rooms at the Chancellery. Hitler rejected Rundstedt as too
old. He heaved the weighty Army List volume across the
desk to the navy captain and challenged him: “You suggest
one! Do you know of anybody? Which should | take!”

The harsh truth was that, faute de mieux, Brauchitsch
was the only realistic choice. He had the support of Blom-
berg, Keitel and Rundstedt; even Fritsch let it be known that
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he was not averse to him; and Goéring, fearful lest the dy-
namic Reichenau should land the job, eventually threw his
weight behind the rival.

On 3 February Hitler agreed, declared himself satisfied
with Brauchitsch’s attitude on the church, the Party and
military problems, and formally shook hands with him as
Fritsch’s successor. The unfortunate General von Fritsch —
whose landlady, chauffeurs and valets were being pulled in
from all over Germany by the Gestapo for questioning — was
asked that same afternoon by Hitler to submit his resigna-
tion. Fritsch wrote later, “l accepted this demand, as | could
never have worked with this man again.”

In retrospect, it must be said that it is clear that Hitler be-
lieved him guilty. Even Fritsch accepted this, writing many
weeks later that he was certain that he was the victim of an
SS plot: “I don’t think the Fuhrer knew of Himmler’s foul
trick in advance, or sanctioned it — he made a far too frantic
impression on the evening of 26 January [the library con-
frontation with Otto Schmidt] for that.”

On 4 February, Hitler accordingly signed an icy letter
to him, formally accepting his resignation “in view of your
depleted health.” He added a few brief words of commen-
dation for the general’s service in rebuilding the German
army. The letter was published in full — thus driving the last
nail into Fritsch’s coffin, as it turned out.

Meanwhile, Hitler had charged Dr. Hans Lammers,
head of his civil service, to negotiate the terms of a financial
settlement for the first Frau von Brauchitsch to agree to a
noiseless divorce. Eventually the Reich settled an allowance
of about 1,500 marks a month on her; the general trans-
ferred a further 20,000 marks to her, and the divorce took
effect in April. Hitler thereby purchased complete moral

31



sway over the army’s new C-in-C — and for a relatively pal-
try sum.

Hitler — Keitel - Schmundt - Brauchitsch: the chain of
command had gained another link. Brauchitsch was a slow-
speaking, introverted, quiet army general of the best pedi-
gree (he had been page to the Empress Augusta Viktoria).
Hitler decided that Brauchitsch, Géring and Raeder as the
three service C-in-Cs would take their orders from a new
supreme command authority, the Oberkommando der
Wehrmacht (OKW), with Wilhelm Keitel as its Chef, or chief
of staff. Hitler himself would be Supreme Commander, with
the new OKW as his military secretariat. This OKW would
also exercise Blomberg’s former ministerial functions. His
old National Defence division, the Abteilung Landesvertei-
digung, would transfer to the OKW as an operations staff,
commanded by Colonel Max von Viebahn, a staff officer of
the older generation.

Thus Keitel himself became Hitler’s principal military
secretary. Hitler never regretted the choice; the general
came from a long line of landed gentry and officers, and he
was neither obstinate nor independent in his ways. His
métier was a willingness to obey - to pass on orders effi-
ciently and without question. After all, Hitler proposed to
decide his own military policies. At most he needed an in-
dustrious and efficient machine to put them into effect.

By the end of January 1938 he was confident that he
had ridden out the Blomberg-Fritsch crisis. He confided to
Keitel that he was planning to do something that would
make Europe “catch its breath.” It would also serve to dis-
tract attention from the Wehrmacht’s problems. Now he
could pull public triumph out of the jaws of this private
scandal. He would carry out a general top-level reshuffle, to
give the impression not of a momentary weakness but of a
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gathering of strength. He hinted that the theatre for his first
European diversion would be Austria.

It was indeed a minor landslide that now engulfed military
and diplomatic Berlin. Hitler changed his foreign minister
and minister of economics; inconvenient diplomats like
Ambassador Ulrich von Hassell in Rome were forcibly re-
tired; Goring was promoted to field marshal, three score
army and Luftwaffe generals who were too old, conserva-
tive or obstinate were axed or transferred, and Keitel’s
younger brother Bodewin became chief of army personnel.

All these changes were decreed on 4 February. Most of
the dumb-founded victims first learned of it when they
opened their newspapers the next morning. From the in-
tercepted telegrams of the foreign diplomats in Berlin, Hit-
ler knew that the last days had been rife with speculation.
By the fifth he knew that his spectacular upheaval had
largely succeeded. The British press lord, Rothermere, tele-
graphed him, “May | add, my dear Fuhrer, my congratula-
tion on the salutary changes you have made. Your star rises
higher and higher.”

The German army could not be so easily fobbed off.
Ugly rumours spread. Fritsch’s deposal was seen as vivid
evidence of the hold that the Party was gaining over the
armed forces. So at 4 P.M. on 5 February Hitler delivered to
his leading army and Luftwaffe generals, standing around
him in a semi-circle in the war ministry, a two-hour speech
in which he mercilessly described the allegations that had
resulted in the resignations of both Blomberg and Fritsch.
He read out the formal legal opinion of the minister of jus-
tice and quoted choice extracts from the Otto Schmidt dos-
sier. He does not appear to have mentioned Fritsch’s de-
nial. But he did announce that a special tribunal would try
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the general’s innocence, with Goring, Brauchitsch and Rae-
der themselves as judges, aided by two presidents of the
Reichskriegsgericht (the Reich Court Martial). He forbade
anybody present to discuss the matter beyond these four
walls.

The speech was received in embarrassed silence. Hitler
had spoken with such conviction that no voice was raised
in protest. But evidently some army officers were not
wholly satisfied with this outcome, because some weeks
later Wilhelm Canaris, the director of military intelligence,
admonished his regional officers in these words: “For the
time being we have just got to accept this explanation of
events. At present it is quite impossible to discuss them.”

At eight o’clock that evening, Hitler presided over what was,
it turned out, the last cabinet meeting ever called. He
briefly introduced Keitel and Brauchitsch to them - the
former would faithfully administer the Wehrmacht High
Command (OKW) until the end of the coming war in 1945,
while the latter proved a complaisant army C-in-C only un-
til December 1941, when he and Hitler parted. After the
cabinet meeting, Hitler set out for his mountainside home
in Bavaria — as Fuhrer, Reich Chancellor and now supreme
commander of the armed forces in fact as well as in name.
Yet if these January 1938 scandals had proven anything,
it was this: that Adolf Hitler was more deeply in the thrall of
his devious henchmen and cronies than even he suspected.
By early March, when he was back in Berlin, the first
whispers were reaching him that he had been misled - that
Himmler, the SS and the Gestapo had deceived him and
that even Goring was not entirely above blame. Hitler evi-
dently took a merciless line: Fritsch was lost beyond re-
trieval;, while Himmler, the SS and Goéring were indispensa-
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ble. (Of the SS he shortly defined: “They must be political
state troopers, blindly loyal to State and Fuhrer. If troubles
break out, these troopers must crush them ruthlessly.”) He
was still confident that the army tribunal would prove that
Fritsch was guilty.

The army investigators had begun their inquiries in
February. Fritsch had engaged a gifted barrister, Count
Rudiger von der Goltz, whose clients had included Goeb-
bels in a pre-1933 libel action, the “Holstein saboteur” and
various political assassins. Triumphantly the Gestapo now
claimed that this barrister had also been blackmailed by
Otto Schmidt. Goltz indignantly demanded to see the file.
Now it was found to refer to a different lawyer, Herbert
Goltz, since deceased.

This was an interesting discovery. Fritsch wondered
whether he too was the victim of a mix-up. And indeed, on 1
March, Goltz succeeded in establishing that the blackmailer
had witnessed only a cavalry captain of similar name,
Achim von Frisch; the army investigators traced this man
and he very commendably admitted the felony. To clinch it,
he even produced Otto Schmidt’s signed receipt for the
2,500 marks he had been paid. Disturbingly, he also re-
vealed that the Gestapo had investigated his bank account
at Lichterfelde on 15 January. Was it pure coincidence that
this was only three days after the Blomberg wedding? What
was certain was that some Gestapo official had known the
real identity of Schmidt’s victim all along!

General Walter Heitz, representing the tribunal, took
this startling evidence to Hitler on 3 March 1938. Hitler’s
first impulse was to call off the impending trial. But Hein-
rich Himmler was present, and he interjected: “The Fritsch
and the Frisch cases are two entirely different matters. The
blackmailer Schmidt has himself identified the general!” To
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underline this particular point, Achim von Frisch was now
also arrested, since he had confessed to homosexual
offences.

Hitler ordered the trial to begin on 10 March, hoping
no doubt that his intuition about the general might still
prove right — or that Providence would provide him with
some means of mastering this internal crisis too. In a way,
Providence did: because on the eleventh, the three judges
(Goring, Raeder and Brauchitsch) were suddenly needed
elsewhere: Hitler was about to annex Austria. The trial was
adjourned to the seventeenth, and by that date Hitler had
amassed such popular acclaim that his position was im-
pregnable to criticism from the army.

The trial began. A few days later, Fritsch himself wrote,

Initially my impression was that Géring [who pre-
sided] was working toward an open verdict - in
other words that my guilt had not been estab-
lished, but that it was still possible.

But the weight of evidence was so great that
even Goring had to announce that no reasonable
person could fail to be convinced of my inno-
cence. Finally the key witness, the blackmailer,
confessed that everything he had said about me
was a lie.

It was GOring’s angry cross-examination that elicited
Otto Schmidt’s confession. During the hearings it came out
that on the very eve of the trial the head of the Gestapo’s
homosexual investigations branch, Kriminalrat Josef
Meisinger, had threatened Schmidt with a sticky end
should he recant on his sworn testimony. Fritsch was hon-
ourably acquitted.

There is no evidence that Hitler concerned himself in
the least with the slimy background of this Gestapo in-
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trigue. The facts were however these: Reinhard Heydrich,
chief of Reich security, had established the Meisinger sec-
tion, Section IIH, four years before. In 1936, Otto Schmidt
had named the general during interrogation, in the vain
hope that the charges against him would be quietly hushed
up. Meisinger willingly believed him, but Heydrich and the
Gestapo chief Heinrich Muller had both considered it an
inadequate basis for action. The statements stayed on file.
When Muller fell ill, Meisinger showed the dossier to
Himmler, who showed it to Hitler — with the results already
related. It was one of Meisinger’s officials who had checked
the Lichterfelde bank account in January, so Meisinger at
least realized the error he had made. Shortly after the trial
began, Himmler sent him out of harm’s way to Vienna; his
career was unimpaired by the blunder.

Not so General von Fritsch’s career. On the day after
his acquittal, he wrote to his lawyer: “Whether and to what
extent the Fuhrer will allow me to be rehabilitated still re-
mains to be seen. | fear he will resist it with all his might.
Goring’s closing remarks would seem to indicate this in
part.”

In his private notes, Fritsch recollected:

Both before the end of the examination of the wit-
nesses and while reading the tribunal’s verdict,
Goring took pains to justify the Gestapo’s actions.
... Goring repudiated the fine words spoken by
Count von der Goltz about the army and myself.
He admittedly spoke of the tragedy of my position,
but said that under the circumstances it could not
be helped. Throughout it all you could hear the
leitmotif, “Thank God we’ve got rid of him and he
can’t come back.” Goring kept referring to me
with emphasis as “Colonel-General von Fritsch
(retired).”
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In Fritsch’s view, it all indicated that Goring had a guilty
conscience.

Not until Sunday, 20 March, could General von Brauchitsch
obtain an interview of Hitler to demand Fritsch’s rehabili-
tation. “The Fuhrer was apparently not entirely opposed to
rehabilitating me,” wrote Fritsch later, “but he has post-
poned a decision. Meantime the other side will have their
chance to get to work on him.”

As a man of honour and an officer, Fritsch refused to
take it any longer. He drafted a twelve-point list of the facts
proving the Gestapo’s intrigue. At the end of March he in-
corporated them in a letter to Himmler. It ended with the
extraordinary words, “The entire attitude of the Gestapo
throughout this affair has proven that its sole concern was
to brand me as the guilty party,” and, “I therefore challenge
you to a duel with pistols.”

His notes record that he asked first Beck and then
Rundstedt to convey the letter to Himmler as his seconds.
Both politely declined. Fritsch had no option but to await
his public rehabilitation by the Fuhrer.

Under pressure from Brauchitsch, Hitler did take a
sheet of his private gold-embossed notepaper and write
sympathetically to Fritsch. But the letter contained no real
apology. The general replied with a pathetic homily about
the bond of confidence he had mistakenly believed to exist
between them. He would not be satisfied, he said, until the
Gestapo culprits had been punished. Hitler let him know
that at the next Reichstag session he would personally
speak words of praise for Fritsch: but Easter, then the end
of May and finally 2 June 1938 - all dates when a Reichstag
session had been rumoured - passed without event.

38



By early June, Germany was just recovering from a new
crisis over Czechoslovakia. Hitler refused to convene the
Reichstag yet, to avoid having to report in public on the cri-
sis. But Brauchitsch warned him that the army’s generals
were already in an ugly mood; Fritsch had now gone so far
as to draft an open letter to every senior general revealing
the facts of his acquittal, and this may have come to Hitler’s
ears.

All the army and Luftwaffe generals who had heard his
secret Berlin speech on 5 February were therefore ordered
to a remote Pomeranian airfield on 13 June 1938, ostensibly
to witness a Luftwaffe equipment display. It was a stiflingly
hot day. At noon Hitler arrived, and then withdrew while
the three-hour judgment and findings in the Fritsch trial
were read out by the tribunal’s president.

With visible embarrassment Hitler now began to
speak: “Gentlemen, | was the victim of a very regrettable
error over General von Fritsch.” He asked them to picture
his “mental agony,” caused by the Blomberg affair. In 1936,
he said, he had not taken the Schmidt dossier seriously; but
after the Blomberg scandal he believed anything possible —
particularly when Fritsch had astounded him by mention-
ing that wholly unconnected Hitler Youth incident. The
trouble was, he explained, that now he could hardly dis-
avow himself as Fuhrer before the whole German nation:
he had announced that Fritsch had resigned through “ill
health” — a terminus technicus which, he threatened, he
would not hesitate to use in future too.

“The allegations against General von Fritsch were not
malicious fabrications,” he insisted. “A minor official blun-
dered - that’s all.” He had ordered the blackmailer to be
shot, he announced; and he appealed for their confidence.
He concluded by assuring them that the Wehrmacht would
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always remain sacrosanct from Party interference. “There is
no question of outside influences acting, as in Russia.”
(Stalin had just purged his senior generals.)

More than one general left that airfield with the mo-
mentary conviction that Hitler had spoken honestly.
Brauchitsch reported the day’s events to Fritsch two days
later. Hitler appointed him to be colonel of his old regiment
too. But this ancient honour did little to heal the injury.
Fritsch saw it as a sop to army opinion, since the real cul-
prits had escaped unscathed.

“Either the Fuhrer sees to it that law and order prevail
again in Germany,” he wrote,

... and that people like Himmler and Heydrich get
their deserts, or he will continue to cover for the
misdeeds of these people — in which case | fear for
the future. Since the Fuhrer has sanctioned and
condoned the way the Gestapo acted in my case, |
must regretfully abandon my plan to challenge
Himmler to a duel. Besides, after so much time
has elapsed it would probably look somewhat
affected. What | cannot and never will understand
is the Fuhrer’s attitude toward me. Perhaps he
personally begrudges me that | dented his aura of
infallibility by being acquitted.
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Dictator by Consent

When Hitler became Chancellor on 30 January 1933, Ger-
many was in an hour of extreme national crisis, an interna-
tional bankrupt in an insolvent world, and on the verge of
civil war between the six million Communists and the Na-
zis. There were millions unemployed and on half-time
working. On 5 March 1933 his Party increased its strength in
the elections to 288 of the Reichstag’s 647 seats. The Com-
munist Party was banned - a step Hitler had advised
against in his first cabinet of 30 January, fearing a general
strike (“You can’t ban six million men”) — and the Commu-
nist deputies were expelled from the Reichstag. An alliance
with Alfred Hugenberg’s German National Party gave him a
majority, which Hitler used to obtain four years’ special
powers with an Enabling Act. Now he could issue such laws
as he saw fit.

At once he began to enact the laws he had promised,
including the uglier decrees designed to force the Jews out
of Germany’s professions and trades, and eventually out of
Germany.

He had a sounder appreciation of economics than
people believed. Count Lutz Schwerin von Krosigk, whom
he inherited in 1933 as finance minister, wrote privately af-
ter the war: “He dismissed warnings of inflation with the -
not altogether inaccurate — comment that under a strong
government inflation was impossible. In which connection
he had an absolutely healthy instinct on the necessity of

41



keeping expenditure in line with income.” Over the first few
months Schacht and the Reich cabinet came to regard Hit-
ler as a genius. He restored national confidence in the fu-
ture, which was the basis for any economic recovery.
Strikes and lock-outs were made illegal, there were strict
price and wage controls, and money gained purchasing
power again. Meanwhile, Dr. Hjalmar Schacht, the auto-
cratic chairman of the Reichsbank, moved to restore Ger-
many’s solvency, by shielding the frail home economy
against the bleak winds of the foreign depression and in-
troducing strictly bilateral trade agreements, and then de-
vising ingenious means of raising credit for Hitler’s ambi-
tious programmes.

The workers were no longer social outcasts. All the
cancerous symptoms of industrial unrest — strikes, absen-
teeism, malingering — became phantoms of the past. As
Hitler’s brief successor, Karl Donitz, was to put it in 1945:
“What did the workers care about the Jewish problem and
all that? At last they had food and work again, and they were
respected human beings.”

In the New Germany, the regimentation of labour had
high priority. In April 1933 the government closed down the
free trades unions and, one year later, transferred their
staff, five million members and assets to a monolithic Ger-
man Labour Front, the DAF. It was the biggest trades union
in the world, and one of the most successful. Dr. Robert
Ley, the stuttering, thickset Party official who controlled the
DAF for the next twelve years, certainly deserves a better
appraisal from history. A former Great War pilot, he had
been lured by a 1925 Hitler speech into resigning a well-paid
job as an IG Farben chemist, and worked solely for Hitler’s
cause. In November 1932, Hitler had appointed Ley the
Party’s “Reich Organizations Leader.”

42



The DAF eventually embraced thirty million members,
of whom all but the six million collective members joined
voluntarily; the union regularly received 95 percent of the
subscriptions due — an unparalleled expression of the Ger-
man workers’ confidence in the DAF. With this vast wealth
the DAF built for them holiday cruise vessels, housing,
shops, hotels and convalescent homes; it financed the
Volkswagen factory, the Vulkan shipyards, factories in the
food industry and the Bank of German Labour. The DAF
amassed assets of ten billion marks. Hitler respected Ley’s
ability, and was willingly photographed in the company of
Ley’s blonde and beautiful first wife. Nor had he misjudged
Ley’s loyalty, for the labour leader was to stand by him be-
yond the end.

Hitler’s first power base in 1933 was, therefore, the
workers. No history can safely overlook this fact. Among the
papers of Walther Hewel - the nineteen-year-old student
who shared Hitler’s Landsberg imprisonment — | found this
doctrine written in Hitler’s own spiky hand:

They must learn to respect each other and be re-

spected again — the intellectual must respect the

manual labourer and vice versa. Neither can exist
without the other. From them both will emerge

the new man:. the man of the coming German

Reich!

Adolf Hitler,

Landsberg, 18 December 1924
(Fortress Arrest).

There was one particular dream that Hitler also men-
tioned at Landsberg and put into effect immediately after
he came into power — the construction of a network of su-
per highways covering all Germany. Goring recalled him
raising the matter at his very first cabinet. And Schwerin
von Krosigk also wrote,
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Hitler used to describe how the city folk returned
from their Sunday outings in overflowing trains
getting their buttons torn off, their hats crushed,
their good mood ruined and every benefit of the
relaxation wasted, and how different it would be if

the city workers could afford their own cars to go

on real Sunday outings without all that. . . . Road-

building had always been the sign of powerful

governments, he said, from the Romans and the

Incas down to Napoleon.

On 11 February 1933, Hitler announced the autobahn
construction programme; on 28 June the cabinet passed the
law, and a few days later he sent for Dr. Fritz Todt, an engi-
neer who had written a 48-page study of the problems of
road-building in 1932, and asked him if he would like the
job of Inspector-General of German Road Construction. He
said he had always preferred travel by road to rail, as the
contact with the people was closer: “I must have driven half
a million miles in my fourteen years of struggle for power.”
Todt accepted the job: the interview lasted barely three
minutes. On 5 July, at 9 P.M., Hitler again sent for Todt,
strolled for ninety minutes with him, spoke vehemently of
the autobahns of the future, told Todt what routes the first
network would take, laid down the minimum width of the
traffic lanes and sent Todt to begin work at once. (All this
emerges from Todt’s own private papers.)

The military importance of the autobahns has been
exaggerated. The German railroad system was of far greater
significance. But Hitler was interested in the political im-
pact of the autobahns: more than railroads, he saw them as
the future instrument of colonization in the east. For the
present they were the means whereby Germany’s national
unity could be enhanced, because he realized that the fight
against provincialism and separatist trends even within

44



Germany would last for many years yet. An office was set up
under Todt, employing expert supervisors to control the in-
dividual private construction firms that would work on
these huge building projects — the radical principle of self-
responsibility that Albert Speer was later to apply with such
effect to the entire arms industry.

To win the rest of the German people, Hitler appointed a
Minister of Propaganda and Public Enlightenment, Dr.
Josef Goebbels, a 35-year-old Rhinelander with a club foot.
To this fiery agitator of the Berlin barricades fell the task of
forcing the media to speak with one voice — the voice of
National Socialism. To his cabinet on 11 March 1933 Hitler
explained the need for the Goebbels ministry with disarm-
ing frankness:

One of the chief jobs of the ministry will be to pre-
pare [the nation] for important government
moves. For instance in the oil and fats affair occu-
pying this cabinet now, the public would have to
be educated that the farmers would face ruin if
nothing were done to improve sales of their prod-
ucts. They must draw attention to the importance
of this measure in wartime. Factory workers must
be made to understand the need for aid to the
farmers, with statistics. Radio talks must serve the
same end.

The government’s measures would not begin
until there had been a certain period of public en-
lightenment.

Hitler saw the random bickering of the newspapers of
the democratic countries as an inexcusable frittering-away
of a vital national resource. He considered that the press
could become a powerful instrument of national policy. To
establish a virtual Nazi Party press monopoly Hitler used
the sprawling Franz Eher publishing house, which he had
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purchased in 1920 with a 60,000-mark loan from the Reich-
swehr general Baron Franz von Epp. At the time, it was
publishing an insolvent Munich daily, the Vélkischer Beo-
bachter, with barely seven thousand subscribers. He
changed the newspaper’s format from tabloid to large Ber-
lin size, and made Alfred Rosenberg editor in 1923.

Meanwhile he had appointed Max Amann, his ser-
geant-major in the World War, to manage Eher’s in April
1922. Amann was a dwarf-like, one-armed Bavarian who
had managed the Party’s business affairs well. The Volkis-
cher Beobachter began a steady circulation climb, cush-
ioned from the economic depression by the publishing
house’s phenomenal sales of Mein Kampf. Even so, by 1932
Hitler’s fifty-nine daily newspapers were reaching only
780,000 readers. The real press monopoly did not begin
until the seizure of power in 1933.

Within a year, the Nazi Party controlled eighty-six
newspapers with 3.2 million readers. Laws were passed
closing down 120 socialist and Communist printing plants.
They were sold to the Party at knock-down prices. The
Volkischer Beobachter gained a circulation of one and a half
million. Amann soon controlled seven hundred newspa-
pers. The Ruhr industrialists like Hugo Stinnes and Alfred
Hugenberg, who had owned large blocks of newspapers,
were forced to sell out to Amann. The freedom of editors
had already been seriously curtailed by emergency laws
passed by the pre-Hitler governments of Heinrich Briining
and Franz von Papen, but Goebbels and Amann surpassed
them both in tackling the dissident voices, cleansing the
publishing houses, bringing them into line or simply
confiscating them.

Jews and Marxists were forbidden in any case to prac-
tise journalism in Nazi Germany. In October 1933, Hitler
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enacted an editors’ law modelled on the regimentation of
journalists in fascist Italy. From mid-1935 the Catholic-
owned press was also purged of all divisive religious trends.
Sinning newspapers were sniffed out and closed down. As
Goebbels publicly emphasized: “I reject the standpoint that
there is in Germany a Catholic and a Protestant press; or a
workers’ press; or a farmers’ press; or a city press or a pro-
letariat press. There exists only a German press.”

To Goebbels’s new monolithic organization Hitler as-
signed three tasks: to illuminate to the world the urgency of
the problems he was about to tackle; to warn that he would
not be trifled with; and to show the world the solidarity of
the German people.

At the same time Hitler established his police state — the
stick to supplement the carrots Goebbels offered. Control
of the Reich’s police authorities passed progressively into
the hands of Heinrich Himmler, Reichsfuhrer of the SS.
Aged thirty-two in 1933, Himmler initially controlled the
police force in Munich after Hitler came to power; then
followed all of Bavaria, and by 1935 he controlled all Reich
police forces except in Prussia, where Goéring kept him at
bay.

Hitler thought highly of Himmler. He readily accepted
that Himmler’s “concentration camps” were indispensable
for the political re-education of the dissident — and indeed
of the dissolute as well, because by 1935 the camps con-
tained more than one hapless inmate whom Hitler had or-
dered incarcerated as a drastic cure for alcoholism or some
other less savoury human failing. (“The punishment was
not ordered by the Fuhrer to hurt you,” Himmler wrote to
one alcoholic in Dachau on 18 May 1937, “but to retrieve you
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from a path that has clearly led you and your family to
ruin.”)

Chief of the Reich’s security police was one Reinhard
Heydrich. In March 1933 Himmler had appointed him, then
twenty-nine and a former naval officer — discharged for
misbehaving with the daughter of a Schleswig-Holstein
civic dignitary and subsequently lying to a naval Court of
Honour - to head the political section at Munich police HQ.
Heydrich soon excelled in Himmler’s security service, the
Sicherheitsdienst (SD). In April 1934, GOring gave him con-
trol over Prussia’s Gestapo, the secret state police. A tall,
blond officer with classic Aryan features, Heydrich — re-
nowned in later years for his cold-bloodedness — must have
had some humour in his dusky soul, because in 1939 he
dared write to the Reichsfuhrer SS that a witch had been
identified amongst Himmler’s ancestors, burnt at the stake
in 1629: or perhaps it was meant seriously after all.

On the nature of Hitler’s contacts with Himmler and
Heydrich there is little that can be said with certainty. Their
talks were always in private, without any adjutants in at-
tendance. Himmler, in his pedantic manner, listed in spiky
pencil handwriting the topics he intended to discuss with
the Fuhrer, and he sometimes added Hitler’s decisions on
each case. | transcribed the entire collection of these notes,
but the gaps they reveal are so astounding that — if they are
complete — we must assume either that Himmler kept Hit-
ler in the dark about whole areas of his nefarious activities,
or that Himmler knew how to act to please his Fuhrer,
without any need for explicit discussion between them.

One of the most important weapons in Hitler’s police state

was controlled however by Hermann Géring, not Himmler.
This was the Forschungsamt, or “Research Office,” set up in
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1933 with a monopoly on all wiretapping operations. By 1935
it had moved into a large but discreet compound in Berlin’s
Charlottenburg district, heavily guarded inside and out. It
had also developed an efficient decoding section with 240
cryptanalysts aided by Hollerith punched-card computers,
capable of decoding three thousand intercepted foreign
messages per month.

In the years of his great diplomatic triumphs, it was
Hitler’s furtive knowledge of foreign reports from Moscow,
London, Paris or Ankara that permitted his dazzling flashes
of “intuition.” But the FA was also a high-grade and rapid
source of police, economic and political intelligence. By
pneumatic post from Berlin’s telephone exchanges, and by
courier from the other cities, the wiretap transcripts poured
into the FA building for analysis. Printed on the character-
istic brown paper that gave them their famous name - the
“brown pages” — they were distributed to Hitler’s ministers
in locked despatch boxes on the strictest “need-to-know”
basis.

Tragically, the entire FA archives were destroyed in
1945. The scattered items that have survived demonstrate its
sinister efficiency, whether putting routine wiretaps on the
fringe actors of the coming chapters like gauleiter Julius
Streicher, Miss Unity Mitford, Princess Stephanie Hohen-
lohe, Goebbels’s mistresses and even Hitler’s adjutant Fritz
Wiedemann, or screening the telephone lines between the
outside world and foreign embassies or the missile labora-
tory at Peenemiuinde.

The FA cryptanalysts tested the Nazis’ own codes for
vulnerability too. Their findings were not often welcome.
The foreign ministry stubbornly refused to believe that its
codes could be broken. The FA also devised special codes of
such perfection that when one was taken to London in 1935
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for the Anglo-German naval talks, a burglary attempt was
made on the London embassy by British agents trying to
obtain it.

The first reference to the FA’s work is in a cabinet
meeting of 29 March 1933, when Hitler was told of allegedly
exaggerated reports being filed on anti-Jewish atrocities in
Germany. “The atrocity reports were principally cabled to
America by the Hearst Press representative here, Deuss.
This has been established beyond doubt by tapping his
telephone conversations.” (Hitler agreed that Deuss should
be deported.) But German opposition elements were also
wiretapped. One brown page relates a phonecall by the wife
of General Kurt von Schleicher to a woman friend, with a
riddle: “What is it? — Without an i, nobody wants to be it;
with an i, everybody.” The answer was arisch, Aryan. (Arsch
is not a word of great endearment!) Gdring roared with
laughter when he read it; later the wiretap on Schleicher’s
phone was to cause him some embarrassment.

Hitler prudently cultivated Germany’s venerable president,
Field Marshal von Hindenburg. Hindenburg was supreme
commander, and he could also block any of Hitler’s pro-
posals to which he objected. Hitler wooed him by appoint-
ing Dr. Hans Lammers, an expert on constitutional law and
ten years’ Hitler’s senior, as head of the Reich Chancellery;
Lammers in turn schooled Hitler on how to get on with
Hindenburg, and in particular how to moderate his voice
and language. Hitler also promised Hindenburg to retain
Dr. Otto Meissner as chief of the President’s Chancellery,
and Franz Seldte as minister of labour — promises that he
honoured until his death twelve years later.

Hindenburg at first had reservations about Hitler. But
he was moved by the solemnity of the new government,
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and by its successes. Hitler’s accession to power had been
followed not by civil war but by torchlight parades and
ceremonies like the pseudo-religious “Day of Potsdam,” a
spectacle which had moved him and even the most hard-
boiled generals to recognize that a new era was dawning for
Germany.

Hitler also worked hard to win over the Reichswehr —
the armed forces. His main thesis had always been that in
foreign affairs the weight of arms speaks louder than moral
rectitude. But Germany was permitted only a 100,000-man
army — smaller than most comparable countries’ fire bri-
gades. ltaly by comparison had 600,000 soldiers; and
France’s army was the most powerful on earth. To match
Poland alone would probably take Germany five years. The
Versailles Treaty — which Hitler was determined to violate —
forbade Germany to manufacture heavy artillery, military
aircraft, tanks or anti-aircraft guns; her navy was quiescent;
she had no air force.

The army which General Hans von Seeckt had created
in 1919 was however no ordinary army: it was an officer
cadre, merely waiting for the right time for expansion. No
government could exist without its support. There is an
aphorism about Prussian militarism, coined by Mirabeau,
which aptly fits the pre-Hitler Reichswehr: “Prussia isn’t a
country with an army — it’'s an army with a country!” Thus,
prior to 1933, Hitler approached the Reichswehr with all the
blandishments and posturing of a statesman courting a
neighbouring power that he needed as an ally. He swore
before the Reich court in Leipzig not to subvert the Reich-
swehr; and when he later learned that the former chief of
staff of the SA, Captain Franz von Pfeffer, had during his
term of office clandestinely contacted Reichswehr officers,
he ejected him from the Nazi Party.
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His own early contacts with the Reichswehr had disap-
pointed him. He had revered the retired General von
Seeckt, until in November 1932 he met him privately in
Goring’s Berlin apartment. Here Seeckt described his own
relations with the German People’s Party. Hitler abruptly
stood up and interrupted: “Herr Generaloberst! I had
thought | was speaking with one of our great army com-
manders from the World War. That you are having relations
with a political party has surprised me. That will be all.” He
explained afterward to Goring, “I cannot start building up a
new military power with a political general.”

Relations with the current C-in-C of the army, the fop-
pish General Kurt von Hammerstein-Equord, were cool. He
once drawled to Hitler, “Herr Hitler, if you come to power
legally, all well and good. If you do not, | shall open fire.”

With all the generals, however, Hitler had a powerful
argument: he was going to put them back in business — he
was going to restore to Germany her striking power, re-
gardless of the restrictions of Versailles.

The new war minister whom Hindenburg had ap-
pointed, General Werner von Blomberg, was the main in-
strument that Hitler could wield in his fight for the armed
forces’ loyalty. Blomberg had commanded the enclave of
East Prussia, and he had come to respect the Nazi Party or-
ganization there as a valuable supplement to the province’s
defences against the constant threat of Polish attack. He
was the first cabinet minister to declare his unconditional
loyalty to Hitler. Hitler saw in him a fine, upright Prussian
soldier. At his Obersalzberg home, the Berghof, a large bed-
room was set aside above the Great Hall for Blomberg’s vis-
its there, and no other general used it after his resignation
in 1938. Blomberg schooled the army to unquestioning sub-
servience to Hitler; in this he was assisted by his chief of
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staff Reichenau, who had also come from East Prussia — an
active, ambitious general by no means deaf to the Nazi ide-
ology (he had in fact already put out feelers to Hitler in

1932).

Very shortly after seizing power, Hitler asked to meet the
generals. Blomberg still had no Berlin apartment, so he
“borrowed” Kurt von Hammerstein’s at No. 14 Bendler-
strasse for the reception. It was 3 February 1933. Hitler ar-
rived with Lammers and Wilhelm Brickner, his towering
adjutant. Hammerstein announced to the assembled gen-
erals and admirals, standing in a semi-circle: “Gentlemen,
our Reich Chancellor!” Hitler was nervous, and showed it
until the dinner-party ended, when he tapped his glass for
silence and began to address them.

The speech lasted over two hours and was of immense
historical importance. Hammerstein’s adjutant, Major
Horst von Mellenthin, concealed behind a curtain, wrote
notes. They read in part:

There are two possible ways of overcoming our
desperate situation: firstly, seizing by force new
markets for our production; secondly, obtaining
new Lebensraum* for our population surplus.

A peace-loving public cannot stomach objec-
tives like these. Thus it must be prepared for
them. Germany must recapture the complete
freedom of decision. This will not be feasible un-
less political power is won first. That is why my
aim is to restore our political power. My [Nazi
Party] organization is necessary to get the citizens
back into shape.

* Another general present noted his words thus: “We might fight for
new export markets; or we might — and this would be better — conquer
new Lebensraum in the east and Germanize it ruthlessly.”
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Democracy is a utopia, it’s impossible. You
won’t find it in either industry or the armed
forces, so it’s not likely to be much use in such a
complicated institution as a state. Democracy is
the worst of all possible evils. Only one man can
and should give the orders. This is the ideal I've
been working toward since 1918, and when | think
that my movement - which has swollen from
seven men to twelve million — has raised me aloft
from simple soldier to Reich Chancellor, it seems
to show that there’s still a large part of the public
waiting to be won over to this ideal.

The public has got to learn to think as a na-
tion. This will weld it together. This cannot be
done by persuasion alone, but only by force.
Those who won’t agree must get their arms
twisted. Our supreme commandment is to main-
tain our unity. This process is today well under
way. This is why | built up my organization and
dedicated it to the state. Our target is the restora-
tion of German might. That’s what I’m fighting for
with every means. To restore our might we’ll need
the Wehrmacht, the armed forces.

The public must be educated on a uniform
basis. Marxism must be eliminated root and
branch. . .. What matters above all is our defence
policy, as one thing’s certain: that our last battles
will have to be fought by force. The [Nazi Party]
organization was not created by me to bear arms,
but for the moral education of the individual; this
| achieve by combatting Marxism. . . . National So-
cialism will not emulate Fascism: in Italy a militia
had to be created as they were on the very thresh-
old of a Bolshevik menace. My organization will
solely confine itself to the ideological education of
the masses, in order to satisfy the army’s domestic
and foreign policy needs. | am committed to the
introduction of conscription [forbidden by the
Versailles Treaty].
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This path | have set out to you will take many
years to tread. If France has real statesmen, she
will set about us during the preparatory period —
not herself, but probably using her vassals in the
east. So it will be wrong to commit ourselves too
much to the idea of equal armaments. We must
make all our economic and military preparations
in secret, and only come out into the open when
they are 100 percent complete. Then we will have
regained the freedom of decision. . ..

Then we must decide: foreign markets, or
colonies? I’'m for colonies. . . . One day the time
will come when we can raise a mighty army (and
let me emphasize that | will never use the armed
forces to fight an internal enemy: | have other
means of doing that*). So | ask you to understand
my aims and accept my political aid. With my
movement, a miracle has happened for the Fa-
therland. But this miracle will not recur, so we
must use it.

He could hardly have made himself clearer. Even so,
his audience were unimpressed. One muttered, “Is that
man supposed to be the Fuhrer of the German people?” But
by then Hitler’s revolution was only four days old, and they
all had much to learn.

Four days later the cabinet discussed various ways of
reducing unemployment. Hitler interrupted, “Every pub-
licly-supported project for creating employment must be
judged by one criterion alone: is it or is it not requisite for
the restoration of the German nation’s fighting capability.”
He laid down that for the next five years, until 1938, there
would be only one guiding aim: “Everything for the
Wehrmacht. Germany’s world position will be a factor of its

* The SS. At his first cabinet meeting on 30 January 1933, Hitler ruled
that even if the Communists called a general strike he would not permit
the armed forces to put it down.
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Wehrmacht’s position, and of that alone.” A few days later,
Hitler forced through Goring’s big “civil aviation” budget.
The cabinet record related: “The Reich Chancellor [Hitler]
explained that . . . it is a matter of providing the German
nation in camouflaged form with a new air force, which is
at present forbidden under the terms of the Versailles
Treaty.”

The raising and training of this new Luftwaffe were
carried out surreptitiously, cloaked by army and SA units,
under the broad supervision of the labour minister, Seldte.
Flight training was provided by the Lufthansa airline and
the various amateur flying and gliding clubs. Lufthansa’s
director, Erhard Milch, was conscripted to build the secret
air force; Hitler had discussed the plans with him secretly in
1932. Milch recommended the rapid creation of a makeshift
bomber force, rather than of fighters or reconnaissance
planes — not large enough initially to provoke the dreaded
foreign intervention, but still powerful enough to burn the
fingers of any power that did intervene: a “risk Luftwaffe,”
rather like von Tirpitz’s “risk navy” before 1914.

During the next two years Milch built aircraft factories,
requisitioned the Junkers aircraft company for the state,
and arranged for Lufthansa to start flying special night
routes as training for bomber pilots. Hitler told Blomberg
that the embryo panzer and Luftwaffe troops would be fa-
voured as an élite for the next few years. He particularly
wanted the Luftwaffe officer corps to be imbued with a
“turbulent spirit of attack.” The initial “risk Luftwaffe” was
to be ready by late 1935; thereafter the air force would be
expanded to one commensurate with Germany’s new
world position by 1 October 1938 — a date on which, by
chance, Hitler did indeed make history.
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Of deeper interest are the instructions that Hitler is-
sued to the German navy on coming to power. The Com-
mander-in-Chief, Admiral Erich Raeder, had attended the
dinner-party on 3 February 1933, but Hitler called him to a
separate briefing soon after. The main purpose was proba-
bly to decide on the configuration of the new battleship
class D. In fact the navy had already discussed with Blom-
berg’s predecessor, General Kurt von Schleicher, in No-
vember 1932, an extensive naval construction programme —
including a fleet air arm and submarines. But capital war-
ships take as long to design and build as small cities, and
cannot be adapted to suit each passing whim of a dictator.
So navies unlike armies must be firmly modelled on those
of the most likely enemy. Hitler instructed Raeder on this
occasion to base his calculations on the French and Russian
navies. Raeder warned that France had begun building new
warships, the Dunkerque class, of a truly formidable size.
Raeder’s adjutant, Captain Erich Schulte-Mo&nting, recalls:

Hitler told Raeder it would be the tentpole of his
future foreign policy to co-exist peacefully with
Britain, and he proposed to give this practical ex-
pression by trying to sign a naval agreement with

her. He would like to keep the German navy rela-

tively small, as he wanted to recognize Britain’s

right to naval supremacy on account of her status

as a world power. He proposed to recommend the

balance of forces accordingly.

Before their eyes, the Germans now saw Hitler’s promises
coming true.

On 23 September 1933 he ceremonially dug the first
spadeful of Fritz Todt’s autobahn network at Frankfurt — a
city where eight thousand men were unemployed in 1932.
At 7 A.M. the first seven hundred men, equipped with tools
handed out to them by the local Party gauleiter, marched
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out across the River Main to the sound of bands playing
and crowds cheering. At 10 AM. Hitler spoke to them: “I
know that this festival day will soon be over — that times will
come when rain or frost or snow embitters you and makes
the work much harder. But nobody will help us if we don’t
help ourselves.”

After he had gone, the workers stormed the little heap
of earth he had shovelled and took it home as souvenirs.
“Even the women and children are coming for it,” the
foremen complained. Such was the almost religious fervour
Hitler had generated already. Gradually the network of
highways spread. Fritz Todt was a constant visitor. He
wrote to another professor on 30 September 1933, “The
most beautiful thing about my work is the close proximity
to the Fuhrer. I'm absolutely convinced that any man
coming together with the Fuhrer for just ten minutes a
week is capable of ten times his normal output.”

The autobahns followed routes that engineers had
previously claimed impassable, for example across broad
moors like the south shore of Lake Chiemsee in Bavaria.
Long viaducts like the Mangfall bridge, 200 feet high, were
personally selected by Hitler from seventy competing de-
signs, for their clear and simple but solid lines: “What we’re
building will still be standing long after we’ve passed on.”
He toured the sites and spoke with the workers. “When I'm
as old as you,” he flattered one seventy-year-old labourer at
Darmstadt, “I’d like to be able to work like you now.”

In November 1936, Hitler gave orders that the Reich’s
frontiers were to be marked on the autobahns by monu-
ments 130 feet high, a politically symbolic gesture noted es-
pecially in Holland.
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With his rearmament programme already under way, Hit-
ler’s logical next step was to disrupt the League of Nations.
He told Hindenburg that it was so firmly anchored in the
Diktat of Versailles that it resembled nothing if not a gang-
ing-up by the victors to ensure that the spoils and booty of
the World War were exacted from the vanquished. He
would have cooperated with the League if they had ac-
cepted Germany as an equal; but as they would not, he
proposed to withdraw on 14 October 1933.

It was a risky decision, because it invited armed sanc-
tions against Germany at a time when her defences were
still hopeless. But President Hindenburg welcomed the de-
cision. Hitler sent Walther Funk, Goebbels’s state secretary,
to East Prussia to fetch the field marshal to sign the docu-
ments. Hindenburg boomed his approval: “At last a man
with the courage of his convictions!” At the cabinet meeting
on 13 October, Hitler announced that he would dissolve the
Reichstag the next day too, to give the public a chance to
vote their approval of his “peace policies” in a general elec-
tion coupled with a plebiscite. The plebiscite resulted in a
mighty roar of approval — 40.5 million Germans voted in his
favour, or over 95 percent of all votes cast.

Two days later, on 14 November, the deputy chancel-
lor, von Papen, congratulated Hitler before the assembled
cabinet:

We, your nearest and dearest colleagues, stand
here today under the impact of the most extraor-
dinary and overwhelming votes of support ever
accorded by a nation to its Fuhrer. Through the
genius of your leadership and through the ideals
you re-created before us, you have succeeded in
just nine months in creating from a nation torn by
internal strife and bereft of hope, one united
Reich with hope and faith in the future.
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The concealed but urgent rearmament continued.
Blomberg reassured his generals early in 1934 that Hitler
was planning to keep the peace “for a number of years,” to
enable the reconstitution of the Reich and its new
Wehrmacht to proceed unhindered: “And even then he is
not planning to lay about anybody. But then the Reich will
be better able to try its arm at grand strategy,” Blomberg
explained.

In 1933, Hitler’'s powers were still closely circumscribed by
Hindenburg’s prerogatives as president. He had no
influence over the senior army appointments, for example,
and General von Schwedler’s army personnel branch was a
“hotbed of reaction” in his eyes. But in February 1934 the
army’s C-in-C, Hammerstein, was replaced by Baron
Werner von Fritsch, and Hitler’s influence over the army
slowly grew.

He and Fritsch were poles apart in temperament.
Fritsch used an outsize monocle, which he switched from
eye to eye; he had a grating academic voice, a demanding
attitude toward his inferiors — among whom Hitler inferred
he was included — and a manner of sitting bolt upright with
his hands on his knees, as though this were so prescribed in
some army manual. But for all this Fritsch was a fervent
nationalist, and he shared with Hitler a hatred of the Jews,
the “Jewish press,” and a belief that “the pacifists, Jews,
democrats, black-red-and-gold and the French are all one
and the same, namely people bent on Germany’s perdi-
tion.” He had a soft spot for Hitler, and his views did not
alter before his untimely death in 1939.

It was General von Fritsch who ordained in February
1934 that the army should include the Nazi swastika in its
insignia, to help Hitler defend the regular army against the
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growing menace presented by Ernst Rohm’s brown-shirted
SA “army.”

Fritsch came to like working for Hitler.* He was grate-
ful for the chancellor’s trust in him, but he could find as lit-
tle respect for the “hotheads” surrounding him as could
they for this conservative, hesitant and cautious general.
On the day Fritsch first reported to him, Hitler told him:
“Create an army that will be as powerful as possible, of in-
ner homogeneity and uniformity and of the highest possi-
ble standard of training.” But Fritsch found the army — as he
later wrote — “in ruins,” wide open to the jealous intrigues
of General von Reichenau and the Party factions warring
against it, upon which his predecessor had turned only an
indolent and inactive eye.

The success of Hitler’s January 1933 “revolution” had
moreover rendered ROhm’s street army of brownshirt
brawlers and bullies largely superfluous. The SA had swol-
len to two and a half million men. Encouraged initially by
Blomberg and Reichenau it had been given rudimentary
military training by the regular army as a sop to Party feel-
ings. But by early 1934 the SA wanted more: it became a real
threat not only to the puny regular army, but to Hitler too.
R6hm considered that Hitler was betraying the “socialist”
character of his programme, and he demanded the creation
of a People’s Army based on the SA.

Hitler was already apprehensive of any false move that
might provoke fatal foreign intervention. He had seen this
storm brewing since the summer of 1933, when he ad-
dressed a joint meeting of SA and Reichswehr officers at
Bad Godesberg on the Rhine. There he had explained that

* This is amply borne out by Fritsch’s private letters (now in Oxford
University files) and by his 1938—9 manuscripts (at present in Soviet
hands).
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every revolution must be followed by a period of evolution.
This play on words left the SA unsatisfied. Friction in-
creased, despite an appeal by Blomberg to R6hm in mid-
January 1934 not to rock the boat. On 1 February — the day
Fritsch took over the army - ROhm responded with a
memorandum demanding nothing less than a merger of
the regular army into the SA, with himself, R6hm, as C-in-C.

Hitler supported the sole legitimacy of the army’s
claim to bear arms. But the Nazi Party could not so easily
exorcize the monster it had conjured up, and the rift could
not be papered over. To R6hm, “revolutionary spirit” was
all-important. Not to Fritsch. “The army is founded on dis-
cipline,” he argued at a worried conference with Blomberg
on 3 February 1934, “and not on any ‘revolutionary spirit.””
Together they resolved to defeat Ro6hm.

For diplomatic reasons, Hitler tried to postpone a
showdown. But when the British foreign minister, Anthony
Eden, visited Berlin to complain about the secret Luftwaffe
and the violations of the spirit of Versailles, Hitler pledged
that the huge SA would be demilitarized. And this underlay
a series of proposals drawn up by the war ministry on 27
February. In the future, the SA would be limited to para-
military training and youth-toughening courses. Blomberg
would have the right to inspect the SA. These unpalatable
proposals were forced on the SA by Hitler in person. He
summoned the SA leaders and Reichswehr generals to the
war ministry building on 28 February, and rudely dispelled
Ernst R6hm’s aspirations to an SA “People’s Army.” He im-
plored the SA to abandon its claim, before serious damage
was done to Germany’s hard-fought national unity. One
army general, Kurt Liebmann, noted that day:

Hlitler] said this: “When | took over the govern-
ment in January 1933, | felt I was marching forward
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along a broad, well-paved road. But then that road

got narrower, and the surface worse. It turned into

a narrow footpath — and today | have a feeling that

I am inching my way forward, along a tightrope,

while every day fresh burdens are thrust on me,

now on the right, now on the left.”

Hitler had already committed himself secretly to the
reintroduction of conscription, so the SA was approaching
the end of its usefulness. In any case, only the existing
Reichswehr — with its professional officers and well-trained
cadres — could meet his main need; because according to
another general, Maximilian von Weichs, who took short-
hand notes of the speech, Hitler added: “The new army
must be capable of all manner of defence within five years;
and of all manner of attack within eight.” Since the western
powers would probably not permit Germany to win Le-
bensraum, short sharp wars might be necessary in the west,
“and after them, wars in the east.”

Hitler formally commanded both Blomberg and R6hm
to sign the new proposals. Rohm did so, and afterward
shook hands with Blomberg on the document; but Hitler
later learned that Rohm had that same day issued orders to
his commanders at his Berlin SA headquarters in Stan-
darten Strasse which flagrantly violated it. R6hm had
moreover also ridiculed him as “that ignorant World War
corporal.”

The Forschungsamt put a wiretap on the principal SA
telephones. R6hm’s movements were watched. He was
seen in contact with the former war minister Schleicher,
and with foreign diplomats like France’s ambassador,
André Francois-Poncet. One diplomat encouraged him
with the reminder that he might become the “Bonaparte of
the Third Reich.” The SA was observed to be stockpiling
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weapons - evidently for a “second revolution,” in which
Hitler would be deposed.

Hitler decided to make an example of Ernst R6hm - albeit
one of his former closest friends, one of the privileged few
with whom he had ever used the familiar du. He was going
to make an example of him that would deter all future dis-
sidents. In this, Hitler had many allies as the homosexual
SA chief had mighty enemies: Himmler, Goring and Rei-
chenau had all joined forces against him. The army’s Gen-
eral Fritsch, who was to write ingenuously four years later
that he suspected that Himmler and Reichenau had “a large
hand” in these events, was according to his own adjutant
Mellenthin one of the first to incite Blomberg and Rei-
chenau against R6hm.

Only once, in September 1939, is Hitler known to have
discussed privately what he knew of R6hm’s machinations,
and by that time he was already probably rationalizing
rather than recalling:

Ever since 1933 it was crystal clear to me that a
showdown was inevitable - that it was him or me.
I knew of all the crimes this man and his gang had
committed, but I could not touch him if I was not
to put at risk all I had by then accomplished. Our
real power was still very slight, there was nothing
like the present unity of Party and State; our rear-
mament was just beginning, and the slightest
push from abroad would have brought the whole
structure down like a house of cards.

I knew too that in France particularly there
were powerful forces urging intervention — the
terms of the Versailles Diktat provided justifica-
tion enough. | have to thank the French ambassa-
dor [Francois-Poncet] alone that it did not come
to that. 1 was reading all his despatches [inter-
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cepted by the FA]. I knew that R6hm was mixed

up in treasonable talks with him and the French.

But I could see that Poncet was confidentially ad-

vising Paris against any intervention — the French

should wait until civil war broke out here, which
would make things easy for them.* It was only

knowing this that kept me going throughout 1933

and 1934. It was a terrible load on my mind, but

with each day we were growing stronger. So | kept

my nerve and waited until the last moment before

the [SA] uprising began. Then I had to strike fast.

The bloody purge of the SA on 30 June 1934 presents
the historian with difficulties. It is now impossible to state
with certainty how far Hitler was himself behind it, and
how far he was unwittingly duped by the army and the SS,
acting in a brief and unholy alliance.

Certain facts are clear. The SA was planning to sup-
plant Hitler’s government at some future date. Shadow
ministers had already been nominated by R6hm — himself
as war minister, Schleicher as chancellor, and the Messer-
schmitt director Theo Croneiss as aviation minister. Fritsch
ordered all army commands to gather incriminating mate-
rial on R6hm’s purposes. Blomberg showed to Hitler an or-
der apparently signed by R6hm on 23 May, for the SA to
procure arms where it could so as to “put muscle into the
SA’s dealings with the Wehrmacht.” The language could
hardly have been plainer — if it was a genuine document
and not one fabricated by the army, the Abwehr (military
intelligence agency), Papen or any of R6hm’s other multi-
farious enemies. Hitler anyway was convinced. He told his

* The Forschungsamt was continuously deciphering the French diplo-
matic cables; but the French diplomatic archives do not now appear to
contain any reports indicating that R6hm was conspiring with Mon-
sieur Francois-Poncet, and in correspondence with me the latter has
denied it.
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cabinet later, “This completed the evidence of high trea-
son.” He argued that if mutiny broke out on the high seas, it
was the captain’s duty to quell it.

Soon his agents indicated that the SA group Berlin-
Brandenburg, under the notorious Karl Ernst, was stock-
piling illegal arms for an operation “at the end of June.”
This gave him something of a deadline, but Hitler allowed
the plot to thicken first: he was due to meet Mussolini in
mid-June, and he wanted nothing to corrupt his image be-
fore then. Croneiss meanwhile switched horses, and con-
fessed to Goring the whole conspiracy. Goring challenged
the SA chief to come clean, but Rbhm hotly denied every-
thing. Goring was convinced of his guilt, and told Hitler so.
Hitler — as Goring later described — put both hands on his
shoulders and solemnly assured him: “Géring, you are not
mistaken.”

At the beginning of June 1934, Hitler had a four-hour
session with Rohm; R6hm gave his word of honour he
would stop the intrigues. He agreed to go on leave to
Bavaria from 7 June, and to send the SA on thirty days’ leave
in July. When R6hm departed from Berlin he publicly
warned his enemies not to hope that the SA would not be
returning from its July furlough. But the army knew better.
One colonel, Eduard Wagner, wrote to his wife on the elev-
enth, “Rumour has it that R6hm won’t be coming back.”

Someone selected the last day of June 1934, a Saturday,
for the purge. It may have been Hitler — Saturday was, later,
certainly his favourite day for staging coups de théatre. He
evidently tipped off Admiral Raeder that the balloon would
go up then, as the admiral in turn cryptically recommended
his senior staff to postpone a week-long study cruise they
were planning for that week, without giving any cogent rea-
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son.* One factor bringing everything to a head was the visi-
ble decline in President Hindenburg’s health (Hitler saw
him on 21 June, to report on his visit to Italy). Rumours
multiplied. On the twenty-third, General Fritsch began is-
suing orders alerting army units to possible uprisings. Ma-
chine-gun nests appeared in the corridors of the war min-
istry. The army discussed with the SS how far it could abet
anti-SA operations by supplying weapons, ammunition and
motor transport to the SS.

In the files of Army District VII, Munich, there is a
somewhat cryptic note dated 28 June 1934: “Reich war min-
istry advises: . . . Chancellor’s attitude is, am convinced of
army’s loyalty. Reichenau in buoyant mood. R6hm’s or-
der.” Hitler and Goring left Berlin that day for the Ruhr, to
attend a local gauleiter’s wedding. Under enemy interroga-
tion in July 1945, Goring testified: “There we were informed
that ROhm had given the SA orders to stand by and had
summoned all SA commanders to meet him at Wiessee.”
Hitler sent Goring back to Berlin at once, with instructions
to strike against the SA as soon as a certain code-word
reached him. In Berlin, GOring instructed his deputy, Colo-
nel Milch, to put an armed guard on the city’s airfields at
Staaken, Gatow and Tempelhof on the thirtieth. (This is in
Milch’s diary.)

R6hm was still at Bad Wiessee near Munich. Late on 28
June, Hitler telephoned R6hm’s adjutant to collect the main
SA commanders there to meet him on the thirtieth.

* Hitler saw Raeder on 18 and 22 June 1934. On the eighteenth he in-
structed Raeder to conceal Germany’s submarine-building orders
placed in Holland and Spain, and not to divulge that the new German
battleships would be over 25,000 tons: the navy was to speak of “im-
proved 10,000-tonners.” Raeder mentioned that from 1936 on Ger-
many’s big ships must have 14-inch guns like the British King George V
class. Their discussion on 22 June centred on Germany’s participation
in the coming international naval conference.
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Throughout the next day, telephone reports from Himmler
and GOring spoke of a mounting crisis. At midnight on 29
June, Hitler startled his staff with a decision to fly to Bavaria
in person. Bruckner later speculated that a courier had
brought crucial information from Berlin. Milch’s papers in
fact show that Goring’s state secretary Paul Kdrner — the
titular head of the FA — was sent by Goring to Hitler with a
number of wiretaps proving R6hm’s guilt. Word certainly
reached Hitler, before he took off, that incidents had bro-
ken out in Bavaria and that the Berlin SA had been alerted
for an operation at 4 P.M. the next day, the thirtieth. How far
Hitler believed these messages and how far they were
genuine, we can no longer ascertain.

In Bavaria some SA units had mysteriously clashed
with regular army soldiers. But the two leading local SA
commanders, August Schneidhuber and Wilhelm Schmid,
at once hastened to Munich and assured gauleiter Adolf
Wagner — who was also minister of the interior there — of
their loyalty to Hitler! So somebody’s dirty tricks depart-
ment had obviously been busy.

When Hitler’'s plane landed at Munich early on 30
June, army officers were waiting on the airfield to greet him.
According to General Adam’s adjutant, Hitler barked at
him: “Tell your general that I’'m going to drive out to Wi-
essee now and shoot R6hm with my own hands!” But he did
not — he called at Wagner’s ministry, tore the insignia from
the two bemused SA generals Schneidhuber and Schmid
and packed them off to Stadelheim prison, where they were
joined later by R6hm and a busload of other SA worthies
whom Hitler had personally — and not without personal risk
- rooted out of their hotel at Wiessee, allegedly in the midst
of a sordid homosexual orgy. By 8 A.M. he was back at the

68



ministry in Munich. The code-word was sent to Goring to
begin the purge in Berlin too.

Of great interest is the record of Hitler’s utterances
filed that day by Adam’s HQ, after Hitler’s return from Wi-
essee:

All the SA commanders are now under lock and
key except Gruppenfuhrer [Karl] Ernst. | was
aware of his [R6hm’s?] weaknesses, but | hoped
for a long time to be able to channel this affair
along the right lines. It’s all over now. It’s been in-
finitely hard for me to part from comrades that
have fought in this struggle of ours for years on
end. These people would have ruined the entire
SA. | had to put a stop to it some time.

The scenes during our swoop on Wiessee
were scandalous and shameful — more disgusting
than | would ever have thought possible.

Now | have laid down a clear line: the army is
the only bearer of arms. Every man, whether SA or
not, is in future at the army’s disposal. Any man to
whom the Wehrmacht beckons, belongs to it. |
have maximum faith in the Wehrmacht and the
Reich war minister [Blomberg]. A line has had to
be drawn. You can rest assured that | will now es-
tablish order.

At Party HQ in Munich, behind protective Reichswehr
cordons, Hitler drafted a press communiqué, spoke to loyal
SA officers and appointed a harmless successor to the
doomed Ernst Rbhm - the SA General Viktor Lutze, who
had accompanied him on the night’s adventures. In Berlin,
meanwhile, Goring, Himmler and Reichenau had closeted
themselves in Goring’s villa and were issuing arrest and
execution orders of their own. (Milch witnessed this grisly
scene.)

There were, admittedly, some facts that did not fit with
Hitler’s version of events. Early that morning he had in-
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formed Adam’s staff in Munich that individual SA leaders
had planned a revolt, but that it was the Party’s private
concern, not the regular army’s except inasmuch as Gener-
als Schleicher and Ferdinand von Bredow appeared in-
volved. But the Berlin SA commander Karl Ernst was half-
way to Bremen harbour, setting out on a honeymoon cruise
with his young bride. At Potsdam, a gang of men burst into
Schleicher’s house, asked if he was the general, and gunned
him down at his desk; his wife was also shot. This was
Goring’s doing. His Forschungsamt was still tapping
Schleicher’s phone; when homicide detectives from the
Potsdam prosecutor’s office telephoned the justice ministry
from the house, to report that Schleicher was evidently the
victim of “a political assassination,” Goring angrily contra-
dicted them - the official version would, he said, be quite
different.

Bredow also met a sticky end, as did some of Papen’s
staff, including the controversial Dr. Edgar Jung.* When the
thirteen hundred men of the SS Leibstandarte (Lifeguards)
Regiment arrived in Munich that afternoon, Hitler handed
a list of seven names to their stocky commander, Sepp
Dietrich, and instructed him to see their execution at Sta-
delheim prison. At 8 P.M., he flew back to Berlin. At Tem-
pelhof Airport, Milch had drawn up a guard of honour in
the uniforms of the new secret Luftwalffe — the first time that
Hitler set eyes on them.

Fraulein Christa Schroeder - his private secretary — re-
calls sitting alone that evening in the Chancellery, eating
her vegetarian meal, when Hitler unexpectedly joined her,

* Jung, who had written Papen’s notorious Marburg speech of 17 June
1934, has sometimes been termed a martyr. In the Secret State Archives
in Munich are police and tax files which reveal that he was a hired as-
sassin of the Bavarian government who liquidated among others the
separatist leader Heinz-Orbis in 1924.

70



and exclaimed: “So! Now | have taken a bath, and feel clean
as a newborn babe again.”

Much had in fact happened that unsettled Hitler. Goring
had wantonly liquidated Gregor Strasser, Hitler’s rival; and
there had been a rash of arbitrary murders in Bavaria — of-
ten clearly mistakes of identity. He learned that somebody
had killed his old friend Pastor Bernhard Stempfle, an al-
most daily acquaintance of earlier years, who had helped
edit Mein Kampf for publication.

Hitler’s adjutant Wilhelm Brickner described in pri-
vate papers how Hitler vented his annoyance on Himmler
when the Reichsflhrer SS appeared at the Chancellery with
a final list of the victims - eighty-two all told. In later
months Viktor Lutze, R6hm’s successor, told anybody who
would listen — when his tongue had been loosened by drink
- that the Fuhrer had originally listed only seven men; he
had offered R6hm suicide, and when R6hm declined this
“offer” Hitler had had him shot too.* Despite Hitler’s in-
structions, the seven had become seventeen, and then
eighty-two. “The Fuhrer was thus put in the embarrassing
position of having to sanction all eighty-two killings after-
ward,” complained Lutze. Lutze put the blame squarely on
Himmler and Goéring. A report of Lutze’s drunken maun-
derings was sent to Himmler, and he showed it to Hitler —
who characteristically took no action either way: Lutze was
not disciplined, but nor were the highly-placed murderers.
One curious fact suggests that Lutze was right, however: in
an act of ironic magnanimity that he was to repeat in 1944
after the failed Bomb Plot, Hitler ordered state pensions

* Martin Bormann’s diary lists seven names on 30 June 1934; “R6hm
plot uncovered: Schneidhuber, Count Spreti, Heines, Hayn, Schmid,
Heydebreck, Ernst all shot.”
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provided for the next-of-kin of the people murdered in the
Night of the Long Knives, as 30 June 1934 came to be known.

Afterward, Hitler began to suffer nightmares and could
not sleep. His medical records reveal that stomach ailments
began to plague him. But the guilty conscience seemed
worth it — he had purchased the undivided loyalty of the
Reichswehr generals, a “blood brotherhood,” one might
say. On 3 July 1934, Blomberg as war minister thanked him
on behalf of the assembled cabinet. The cabinet retrospec-
tively legalized most of the killings as “acts of state emer-
gency.”™*

The official version put about by Hitler, and by Blom-
berg on 5 July to his generals, is interesting. It harps on the
dangers the R6hm uprising had posed. R6hm, they said,
had planned a wave of terror during July, to prove that the
Reich was powerless when his SA went on leave. He had put
out feelers to Schleicher, and through Bredow to certain
neighbouring countries (by implication, France). Hitler had
instructed R6hm to meet him with the SA commanders at
Wiessee, planning to arrest them. The SA had however got
wind of this, he claimed, and had brought its nefarious
plans forward — hence the rash of incidents in Bavaria that
Friday night. The rest was history. To those who noticed the
inconsistencies, Blomberg promised an official “blue book”
with all the proof they needed. It never materialized.

After the cabinet meeting, Hitler flew to East Prussia
and reported to the fast-fading president. Hindenburg was
sympathetic. “My dear chancellor,” he said, “those who
make history must be able to shed blood.”

* Not all the killings were so legalized. The cabinet minutes of 2 August
1934 refer to a number of people convicted for having settled private
scores. In one case a litigant had shot a man on 30 June simply for
having testified unfavourably against him during a civil action.
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Eligible bachelor Wal-
ther Hewel (on the
right) witnessed Hit-
ler’s rise and fall, and
shared his end in 1945.
He ranked highly with
Julius Schaub

(on the left) and police
chief Reinhard Hey-
drich (in the centre) in
Hitler’s retinue. (HEWEL
COLLECTION)

When foreign person-
alities dropped in at the
Berghof - like the for-
mer King of England,
the Duke of Windsor, in
October 1937 — Hewel
hovered in the back-
ground. (HEWEL
COLLECTION)
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Hitler began his march to absolute power with Werner von Blomberg
(fourth from left) as the first Nazi field marshal at his side. (WALTHER
HEWEL COLLECTION, IN THE AUTHOR’S POSSESSION)

In January 1938 Hermann Gdring, the ambitious chief of the Luftwaffe
and head of the Four Year Plan, displaced Blomberg by underhand
means. (EVA BRAUN COLLECTION, NATIONAL ARCHIVES)
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Triumph of the Will

Before July 1934 was over, there was further damage to Hit-
ler’'s image abroad. In an impatient attempt at overthrow-
ing the dictatorial Austrian regime, panicky SS gunmen had
shot dead the chancellor, Engelbert Dollfuss, in his own
office on 25 July.

In later years Hitler loudly protested his ignorance and,
by implication, innocence of the plot. But the recently
available private papers of General Wilhelm Adam, military
commander of Bavaria’s Military District VII at the time,
give the lie to this. He was ordered that morning to report to
Hitler in Bayreuth where he was attending the annual Wag-
ner festival. Hitler boasted, “Today the Austrian army is
going to overthrow the government!” He revealed that Dr.
Anton Rintelen, a prominent right-wing Austrian politician,
was going to take Dollfuss’s place, and that Rintelen would
authorize the return of all Austrian refugees, i.e., the Aus-
trian Nazis who had fled into Germany. Adam’s job would
be to equip these Austrian “legionaries” with weapons from
German army stocks before they returned across the fron-
tier to Austria.

Adam was frankly sceptical. So Hitler assured him,
“The moment I get word from Vienna I'll inform you, then
you will believe me.” At 3 P.M. Hitler telephoned. “Every-
thing is going according to plan in Vienna. The government
building is in our hands. Dollfuss has been injured - the
rest of the news is confused as yet. I’'ll phone again.” But he
never did, because Dollfuss was dead; the SS gangsters in
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Vienna had been routed, and Europe’s capitals were in an
uproar.

The background of this half-baked and tragic plot was
this: ever since coming to power, the total union of Ger-
many and Austria had been one of Hitler’'s aims - for the
distant future. As foreign minister von Neurath explained in
cabinet on 7 April 1933, “Union with Austria cannot be ac-
tively campaigned for, for the time being, on account of It-
aly’s opposition.” The Nazi Party had, however, long ex-
tended into Austria, finding broad sympathy amongst its
impoverished population for its anti-Communist and anti-
Jewish platform. Unemployed Austrians cast envious eyes
on Hitler’s success in curing German unemployment. The
Austrian section of the Party was controlled from Bavaria by
a German, Theo Habicht; the autocratic Dollfuss regime
had adopted uncompromising stands against both the Na-
zis and the Social Democratic movement in Austria, and
Dollfuss used the machine-gun and gallows in a way which
indicated that the lessons of his more successful neighbour
in Berlin were not lost on him. In the spring of 1934 he
banned the Austrian Nazi Party and introduced the death
penalty for offences like the illegal possession of explosives
- a law of which Habicht’s outlawed followers increasingly
fell foul.

Were it not for the support that Dollfuss enjoyed from
Mussolini, and from the powerful Italian army on the Bren-
ner frontier, Hitler would have been less embarrassed by
the unexpected miscarriage of the SS plot in Vienna. The
plot had failed for three reasons. First, Habicht had exag-
gerated the size of his following in Austria — particularly the
support from the Austrian army. Second, the plot had been
leaked to Dollfuss’s cabinet, and some ministers had be-
taken themselves to safety. And third, the illegal Austrian SA

76



movement, disgruntled by the events of 30 June in Ger-
many, wilfully withheld the support they had promised:
they were supposed to disarm any loyal Austrian army and
police units. As a result, the SS gang involved found them-
selves out on a limb, and made matters worse for Hitler by
appealing in a panic to the German legation for assistance.
Hitler disowned them. He closed the frontier, sent a tele-
gram of sympathy to Dollfuss’s widow and dismissed Ha-
bicht. The assassins were publicly hanged in Vienna.

Hitler also sent Franz von Papen, his vice chancellor,
to Vienna as “special ambassador”; and immediately state-
ments appeared in the German press announcing investi-
gations as to whether any German officials were implicated
in the plot!

There was one lesson which was signally ignored by
Hitler’'s opponents in July 1944: that the assassination of the
dictator alone is no guarantee that a regime will collapse.

Hitler had sent Dr. Hans Lammers up to East Prussia to no-
tify President Hindenburg of the circumstances of Doll-
fuss’s murder. Lammers returned with word that the aged
president had already slipped so far that he doubted
whether he had grasped the portent of this message. On 1
August 1934, Hitler himself flew to Neudeck to take leave of
the field marshal. It was difficult for the dying man to speak
- he kept addressing Hitler as “your Majesty.”

That evening Hitler told his cabinet that the doctors
gave Hindenburg less than twenty-four hours to live. The
cabinet enacted the following law, to take effect from Hin-
denburg’s death:

The office of Reich President is combined with
that of Reich Chancellor. In consequence, the pre-
vious powers of the Reich President will devolve

77



on the Fuhrer and Reich Chancellor, Adolf Hitler.

He will nominate his own deputy.

Hindenburg died the next day, his last words being to
convey his best wishes to Herr Hitler. Hitler decided to get
the cabinet’s (barely constitutional) new law confirmed by
the public; in a plebiscite on 19 August, 90 percent of the
German people voted in favour.

“Thus,” Hitler triumphed to Blomberg, “I have con-
quered Germany.”

The oath of allegiance of the Wehrmacht was now trans-
ferred to the Fuhrer. But only Blomberg as war minister
could actually issue orders, a formal obstacle which was not
removed until 1938.

In the meantime, Himmler’s own SS regiments began
to appear, the spectacular parades of his well-drilled, tall
and muscular troops being the highlight of the Party rally in
1934. Nobody can now watch Leni Riefenstahl’s chilling film
of this festival, Triumph of the Will, without shuddering at
the sight of the SS troops breaking into the parade-step as
they stomped into sight of the Fuhrer. The SS uniform was
black and elegant, and there was no shortage of candidates
for this élite that Himmler had created.

Himmler was an ambitious, sinister, idealistic creature
of devious ways. His ideas on human behaviour had been
gleaned from animal breeding lectures at agricultural col-
lege years before. The SS had certain affinities to the Jesuit
monastic orders, an enforced mysticism which even Hitler
found slightly ludicrous: in 1940, witnessing the pagan Yule
celebration of the SS Leibstandarte at Christmas, he quietly
commented to an adjutant that this would never take the
place of “Silent Night.”
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He announced to Blomberg that he would allow the SS
to raise one armed division, the Verfugungstruppe — fore-
runner of the Waffen SS. When war came in 1939,
Himmler’s army expanded far beyond that, but to Hitler the
Waffen SS was a fourth armed service, a trustworthy élite,
and as late as 1942 he ruled that the peacetime ratio of
Waffen SS to regular army should be pegged at one-to-ten.

The army, however, envied and mistrusted the SS.
Himmler’s first SS officer training school was far more lav-
ishly equipped than anything the army could afford. Gen-
eral von Fritsch, the C-in-C of the army, suspected that
Himmler was intriguing against him. Generals claimed that
the SS was assembling dossiers on them. Hidden micro-
phones were actually discovered in Wehrmacht offices, in-
cluding the military district HQ in Munich. In 1938, when
the safe in Blomberg’s office — which he had vacated -
would not shut properly, it was found to be jammed by a
wire which was traced to an amplifier beneath the floor-
boards; Wilhelm Canaris, the Abwehr chief, investigated
and traced the wiring to the Gestapo HQ (or so he claimed).
The SS was suspected of infiltrating agents into the army.
Smaller SS formations were quietly mushrooming through-
out Germany, like the “death’s head” guard units in the
concentration camps, and various armed police forma-
tions. The SS swamped the cavalry, in which the increas-
ingly mechanized army took little interest, and it moved in
on the Kyffhauser League, the large non-political ex-
servicemen’s association, so that one day all its leading offi-
cials also appeared in the black garb of the SS.

The second half of 1934 was marked by the open hos-
tility between the Party and the new Wehrmacht. An inter-
necine struggle between the forces of tradition and those of
revolution threatened. The army believed a witchhunt by
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the SS was beginning. The Party in turn suspected that
Fritsch was plotting an army coup against Hitler in January
1935. Colonel Karl Bodenschatz heard his boss Goring dis-
cuss this with Hitler. Milch also mentions these rumours in
his unpublished memoirs, identifying the sources as within
the Party. Hitler may have anticipated an assassination at-
tempt. In December 1934 he twice busied Lammers and the
cabinet with secret decrees appointing Blomberg and Hess
his executors in affairs of Wehrmacht and Party, and Goring
as his successor, in the event of his death. Outwardly, how-
ever, he played it cool. When Dr. Robert Ley — the Party’s
organization chief — complained that an army general had
insulted the Party and Hitler, Hitler angrily retorted: “Ley, |
don’t want to hear about it. | trust my officers and they trust
me.”

A noisy campaign began, fed by foreign newspapers
and émigré organizations abroad, designed to set the
Wehrmacht and Party at each other’s throats. There was
talk of a bloodbath once Hitler had been eliminated. Even-
tually Hitler’s nerves were so frayed that he summoned
Party and Wehrmacht leaders to the Prussian state opera-
house on Unter den Linden at short notice on 3 January
1935 and, in a dramatic two-hour speech, again stated his
loyalty to the Wehrmacht. He described it as a pillar of state
as vital for Germany’s future as the Nazi Party — “both of
equal importance and invincible as long as they remain
united.” An SS official present, Werner Best, later recalled:
“Hitler was in a state of extreme nervousness, almost
pathological depression. His speech was a mixture of
threats and exhortations. Its climax was his despairing pro-
nouncement that he would put a bullet through his brains
if the various Reich agencies refused to work in harmony.”
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Admiral Hermann Boehm recalled Hitler as saying,
“Suppose some Party official comes up to me and says,
‘That’s all well and good, mein Fuhrer, but General So-and-
So is talking and working against you.” Then I reply, ‘l won’t
believe it.” And if he then says, ‘Here is the written proof,
mein Fuhrer,’ | tear the rubbish up, because my faith in the
Wehrmacht is unshakeable.”

This speech clearly reestablished Hitler’'s authority.
“After the Fuhrer’s speech,” Fritsch himself laconically ob-
served, “the witchhunt by the SS died down for a time.”

Hitler attended to the Wehrmacht body and soul. He
documented his interest in military technology by listening
avidly to the complex technical briefings by Milch and by
the navy’s General-Admiral Karl Witzell, his unusually re-
ceptive brain soaking up the data and dimensions thrown
out to him so well that he could regurgitate them years later
without an error.

On 6 February 1935 he toured the army’s research sta-
tion at Kummersdorf — the first chancellor to do so since
Otto von Bismarck in 1890. General Heinz Guderian dem-
onstrated his prototype tanks and armoured cars, provok-
ing exclamations of delight from Hitler. Blomberg and Rei-
chenau actively supported this modern technology, but
neither Fritsch nor his chief of staff, Ludwig Beck, looked
favourably on it. Beck was a calm, dedicated staff officer
appointed in October 1933 for his right-wing views in place
of the more hostile General Wilhelm Adam. Beck had con-
nived in the events of 30 June 1934, but he had no greater
ambitions for the General Staff than to remould it along the
lines of his idol, Count Helmuth von Moltke. Beck saw
tanks only as an infantry support weapon; these beasts
were too fast for his liking. He mistrusted radio and all
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other newfangled gadgets. He scorned the idea that divi-
sional commanders should go into battle in the front line;
he could only challenge Guderian, “How do you propose to
command without map-table or telephone? Haven’t you
ever read Alfred von Schlieffen?”

Hitler decided he could flex the new Wehrmacht mus-
cles. On 9 March — a Saturday — he formally announced that
Germany had created a secret air force. This violation of
Versailles evoked no serious response, so Hitler reintro-
duced conscription on 16 March, also a Saturday. His secret
target was to multiply the army’s seven divisions to twenty-
four, and then by 1939 to thirty-six. This provoked some
friction with Fritsch, who objected that the new divisions
would not be of the usual high standard. Mussolini pro-
tested uneasily at the conscription move, and joined with
France to repeat, at a mid-April 1935 meeting at Stresa, that
any German violation of the demilitarized zone along the
Rhine would call forth British and Italian intervention as
well as French, under the terms of the Locarno Treaty. This
indeed was Hitler’s next planned move, but he was not, in
1935, prepared to risk it before 1937.

The French did start massing troops on the German
frontier, so he had no alternative but to wait. In April 1935,
Fritsch informed army generals that any German violation
of the Rhineland’s status that year would with certainty be
“the drop that overflows the barrel.”

On 30 March 1935 the war ministry invited Goring,
Raeder and Fritsch to investigate what defence was possible
if France and Italy should surprise Germany with a pre-
emptive attack. Worse, in April Hitler learned that France
was preparing an alliance with the Soviet Union, and that it
was to be extended to Czechoslovakia. Twenty-five big air-
fields were already under construction - far in excess of any
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legitimate Czech needs. It was obvious that Czechoslovakia
would be used as the airbase for an assault on Germany. On
2 May, Blomberg therefore circulated a secret provisional
directive for Operation Training (Schulung), a surprise at-
tack on Czechoslovakia to eliminate that risk in the event of
war in the west. Beck immediately threatened resignation if
this contingency plan were ever carried out. On 24 April,
Fritsch had assured his generals, “The Fuhrer is determined
to avoid war, and will leave no stone unturned to that end.
Whether he succeeds in this depends on us alone.”

The nervousness about France’s intentions persisted
that summer. On 10 July, Blomberg issued a further impor-
tant directive. Its verbatim text has not been found, but it
can be constructed from related documents. It provided
that any French invasion of the Rhineland would be used as
a casus belli by Hitler: he would order the German para-
military units there — Landespolizei, frontier defence units
and the like — to stage a holding action until the Rhine
bridges could be blown and all boats removed, to make the
river impassable. The Wehrmacht would then defend Ger-
many on the Rhine.

By the autumn of 1935, the anti-German “Stresa Front,” as it
was called, collapsed: in May, Britain had reached a bipar-
tite naval agreement with Germany; and in October, Italy’s
invasion of Abyssinia set Europe by the ears.

Immediately after reintroducing conscription, Hitler
had begun his overtures to Britain. He conducted the ne-
gotiations himself; later, he sent Joachim von Ribbentrop,
his unofficial envoy on disarmament questions, to London.
As Hitler elucidated to his appreciative generals, speaking
in Munich on 17 March, “My foreign ministry doesn’t
influence foreign policy — it just registers political occur-
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rences.” His view was: “The British will come running to us
sooner or later.” Later that month Sir John Simon, the Brit-
ish foreign secretary, and Mr. Anthony Eden appeared in
Berlin to try to secure some limitations on German rear-
mament. Hitler received them in the Congress Room of the
Chancellery — where Hindenburg had first received him as
chancellor two years earlier with the sonorous injunction,
“Walk as close to the walls as you can, Herr Hitler, the floor
won’t last much longer!” — and bragged that his army was
expanding to thirty-six divisions, which was true, and that
the Luftwaffe was already as big as the RAF, which was not.

Hitler had his own priorities clear. When Sir John
talked of a German colonial empire, and drew his hand
across the map of Africa from the French Congo to Italian
Somaliland, the Fuhrer interrupted him: “lI am not inter-
ested in colonies at present.” He proposed that the British
government agree to an expansion of the German navy to a
mere 35 percent of the British tonnage, and the construc-
tion of a small German submarine force. Eventually Britain
agreed. The Anglo-German naval agreement was signed by
Ribbentrop in London in June 1935, a connivance in yet a
third violation by Hitler of the terms of Versailles that cer-
tainly inspired him to believe that a far-reaching alliance
would be possible with Britain later on.

Earlier, on 25 May 1935, he was with Raeder at Ham-
burg. When he heard the naval agreement was to be signed,
Hitler rejoiced: “Today’s the happiest day of my life. This
morning | was informed by my doctor that my throat infec-
tion is not serious; and this afternoon | get this tremendous
political news.”

Hitler was still far from healthy, however. He confided to
doctors that he could not sleep, and suffered bad stomach
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spasms — in fact since 30 June 1934, the Night of the Long
Knives.

He had a morbid terror of cancer, having seen his
mother die of it. When he contracted a polyp on his vocal
cords in 1935 he had feared for some time that it was a can-
cerous growth. On 5 May the polyp was removed by Profes-
sor Carl von Eicken —who was to repeat the same operation
in November 1944. Hitler was forbidden to speak for three
days; he had to write down his instructions, even to Goring
who was bound for an important conference in Rome.

When Hitler’s throat or stomach pains recurred in later
years, Hitler furtively leafed through various medical dic-
tionaries. His staff found them opened at references to can-
cer diagnoses.

At their last meeting in August 1934, Hindenburg had
warned Hitler against the Italians. The dying field marshal
had painfully levered himself upright in bed and croaked,
“Now, Herr Hitler: don’t trust the Italians!” Hitler had re-
ported this to his cabinet, and added - according to
Schwerin von Krosigk — that his dream was to unite Ger-
many, Italy and Britain in one alliance. If Japan would join
in, then world peace would be assured. But he had made it
plain in the same cabinet session that if ever he had to
choose between Britain and Italy, Hindenburg’s words
would form the basis of his choice. Mussolini’s attack on
Abyssinia on 3 October 1935 brought matters to a head.
Hitler himself termed it a real turning point. Fritz Wiede-
mann quoted him soon after as always having said, “If |
have to choose between Britain and Mussolini, the choice is
clear: Italy is obviously closer ideologically, but politically |
see a future only in alliance with the British.” Hitler knew
and admired the British soldier from his own experience in
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the World War. Besides, he considered Mussolini’s invasion
of Abyssinia premature, however reasonable the Italian de-
sire for a colonial empire. “The time for struggle between
the static and the dynamic nations is still some way off,” he
declared.

However, Britain and France announced sanctions
against Italy. Hitler had to choose, and he chose Italy after
all. He could not afford to see fascist Italy destroyed. To his
leading generals and ministers — as Keitel recalled — Hitler
explained why he must assist Mussolini to circumvent the
sanctions. “The day may come,” he said, “when Germany
too has to stand up against outside intervention — the day
when we also begin to stake our rightful claims.”

Wiedemann, his adjutant, recalls, “When Hitler was preoc-
cupied with some plans or other, he often shut himself up
alone in his room. You could hear him pacing restlessly up
and down. He always took the really big decisions like re-
armament, occupation of the Rhineland, etc., alone -
mostly against the counsels of his staff and advisers. He
knew full well that he alone had to bear the responsibility.”
Powerfully influenced by Dr. Goebbels, Hitler now
abandoned the path of statesmanlike and responsible poli-
cies and embarked on the slippery ascent toward European
hegemony. The parallel to the French Revolution is striking.
That too had been born of the faith of a suffering multitude
and carried to triumph by a few idealists. That too had been
consumed by quarrelling within its own ranks and a grow-
ing terrorization of the minority. That too had degenerated
into a vulgar struggle for the elimination of whole classes of
enemies — just as at Nuremberg now, in September 1935, the
Nazis had promulgated their notorious state laws excluding
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the Jews from all professions and prospects of advance-
ment in Germany.

By mid-February 1936, Hitler had resolved to bolster
his regime by a fresh spectacular coup: he would remili-
tarize Germany’s Rhineland now - again in violation of Ver-
sailles — one year ahead of his secret schedule. As a pretext
he would take France’s imminent ratification of her pact
with Russia. He secured Mussolini’s secret guarantee not to
honour his obligations under the Locarno Treaty, because
Hitler could argue that the new French-Russian pact would
be irreconcilable with Locarno.

On 2 March, Blomberg issued a preliminary directive.
The next day Fritsch sent instructions for three infantry
battalions to cross the Rhine to Aachen, Trier and Saar-
briicken on a given date; but Fritsch, referring to the (now
lost) July 1935 directive, made it clear that should the
French counter-attack, the German forces might have to
withdraw to the Rhine. On the fourth the French ratified the
Russian pact. On the fifth Blomberg ordered the occupation
of the Rhineland to begin two days later — again a Saturday.
The cabinet approved. The infantry marched in.

Hitler’s step was greeted by a chorus of protest from
the west, and by noisy sabre-rattling from the French.
Blomberg lost his nerve and begged Hitler to withdraw be-
fore shooting broke out. Their infantry battalion at Saar-
briicken was exercising in the market square under the very
guns of the French frontier. The three German attachés in
London sent a joint telegram of warning to Blomberg, but
Hitler’s nerves stood the test better, and neither Britain nor
France actually moved against him. He attributed this in
part to the intervention of Britain’s new monarch, Edward
VIII. “What would have happened on 13 March 1936,” he
bragged in January 1942,

87



if anybody other than myself had been at the head

of the Reich! Anyone you care to mention would

have lost his nerve. | was obliged to lie, and what

saved us was my unshakeable obstinacy and my
amazing aplomb. | threatened, unless the situa-
tion ceased in twenty-four hours, to send six extra
divisions into the Rhineland. The fact was, | only

had four brigades. . . . | must agree that Ribben-

trop is not a particularly likeable companion, but

he’s a sturdy and obstinate man. Neurath dis-
played the same qualities on this occasion. A re-
treat on our part would have spelt collapse.

The German public was demonstrably impressed by
Hitler’'s methods. At the end of March 1936 he attracted an
overwhelming vote of popular support — the vote was over
ninety-to-one in his favour. This was as close as he ever
came to democracy — a massive and intimidating publicity
campaign launched after some successful Nazi fait accom-
pli, followed by a (genuinely secret) ballot to confirm the
Fuhrer’s actions. It was a logical extension of Hitler’s
method of dictatorship by consent.

“At the end of March or early in April [1936],” General
von Fritsch was to write in 1939, “I invited the Fihrer to do
the army the honour of becoming honorary colonel of the
gth Infantry Regiment at Potsdam. The FUhrer accepted,
and the regiment was to march to Berlin for the purpose on
20 April [Hitler’s birthday]. Shortly before that date | took a
tumble with my horse at Achterberg, so | could not be in
Berlin on the twentieth. On 19 April, Hossbach [Hitler’s ad-
jutant] phoned me that the Fuhrer had withdrawn his
agreement to become colonel of IR9.” At the time this was a
baffling mystery to Fritsch. On Hitler’s birthday the next
day, he sent him a telegram from his sickbed at Achterberg:
“The army and I follow you in proud confidence and willing
faith along the path you are marking out ahead into the

88



future of Germany.” (On 18 January 1939, Fritsch com-
mented: “That was absolutely true at that time. Today | ha-
ven’t any faith at all in the man. How far the army’s officer
corps has faith in him, I cannot surmise.”) By 1939, of
course, Fritsch suspected the reason why Hitler had with-
drawn his acceptance: “It was in the spring of 1936,” he
wrote,

that Himmler furnished to the Fuhrer the dossier
claiming | had been blackmailed. Perhaps that’s
why the Fuhrer withdrew his agreement to be-
come colonel. His later explanation that the Party
would never understand his becoming colonel of
a regiment wasn’t very likely, or at least not ac-
ceptable. The following is also possible: Himmler
finds out that the Fihrer wants to become colonel
of IR9; he fears this may strengthen the army’s
influence even more. This he wants to thwart.
When he hears of the case of the cavalry captain,
[Achim] von Frisch, he alters it to my name and
pressures the blackmailer to testify accordingly.
That rascal Himmler is absolutely capable of such
adeed.

By 9 April 1939, when Fritsch sombrely wrote down these

reflections, the whole face of Central Europe would have
changed.

Contemplating Germany’s economic position in August
1936, Hitler chafed that so little had still been accomplished
by the new Nazi government to make the country self-
sufficient — a prerequisite for war. Late in April he had put
Hermann Goring in charge of raw materials and foreign
currency questions. Schacht was indignant, but Hitler had
set aside his criticisms. Impatient at the slow progress, in
August 1936 Hitler dictated to his secretary a long, rambling
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and ill-styled memorandum on the economy and handed it
to Goring. “Four precious years have passed,” he dictated:

Without doubt, we could by today already have
been wholly independent of fuel, rubber, and
even (in part) iron ore imports from abroad. We

are presently producing seven or eight hundred

thousand tons of gasoline; we could be producing

a million tons. We are manufacturing several

thousand tons of rubber a year — it could be sev-

enty or eighty thousand tons. We are expanding

iron ore output from two and a half to seven mil-

lion tons, but it could be twenty, twenty-five or

even thirty million tons.

Goring was delighted at the new job. His state secre-
tary, Paul Kdrner, wrote on 7 September to a colleague in
the food ministry: “Today was our finest hour as far as the
economy is concerned. Géring came back from the Ober-
salzberg bringing us the new guidelines for our work over
the next years. Unfortunately | can’t tell you more . . . but
when you get back to Berlin, you’ll find a clear way mapped
out ahead.”

Hitler had certainly nailed some of his secret military
ambitions to the mast: Germany must be “capable of wag-
ing a worthwhile war against the Soviet Union,” because “a
victory over Germany by Bolshevism would lead not to a
new Versailles Treaty but to the final annihilation, indeed
the extermination, of the German nation.” Hitler an-
nounced that he as Fuhrer had to resolve once and for all
Germany’s economic problems by enlarging her Lebens-
raum and thus her sources of raw materials and food. In-
dustry, meanwhile, was to prepare for synthetic gasoline
and rubber production before further time was lost. In de-
tail, Hitler stated these two demands: “First: in four years

90



the German army must be ready for action; and second, in
four years the German economy must be ready for war.”

Hermann Goring himself was appointed head of this
new “Four Year Plan.” He read out Hitler’'s memorandum
to the cabinet on 4 September 1936, making one thing clear:
“It is based on the assumption that war with Russia is in-
evitable. What the Russians have accomplished so can we.”
Wiedemann, writing in March 1939, recalled Goring as re-
marking to Hitler late in 1936: “Mein Fuhrer, if | am not
mistaken in my views, a major war is inevitable within the
next five years. You are presumably agreed to my dealing
with every proposal on that assumption.”

By then, Hitler was already involved deeply in the Spanish
Civil War.

On 25 July 1936, in the interval of an opera at Bayreuth,
emissaries from an obscure Spanish general, Francisco
Franco, were introduced to the Fuhrer by Canaris. They
brought an appeal from Franco for aid in overthrowing the
Republican government in Madrid — he wanted German
transport planes to ferry his loyal Moroccan troops from
Tetuan in North Africa to the Spanish mainland. Hitler
agreed and within twenty-four hours the first Luftwaffe
transport planes had already left Tempelhof for Morocco.
On 31 July, Milch took leave of the first eighty-six Luftwaffe
volunteers: they would fly the transports and fighter escorts
- six Heinkel 51s being shipped from Hamburg for that pur-
pose. Mussolini also sent an Italian contingent, under Gen-
eral Mario Roatta. By October a full-scale civil war was
raging; Britain and France were committed with volunteers
on the Republican side, and the first Russian tanks and
bombs were detected. After discussing it with Goring, Milch
and Albert Kesselring — the Luftwaffe’s new chief of staff —
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the Fuhrer authorized full-scale Luftwaffe intervention.
Goring sent a bomber squadron to Spain on 6 November;
thus the Condor Legion was born.

Hitler welcomed this war for various reasons. He could
test the new German equipment under combat conditions,
and train successive waves of officers and men. Géring also
welcomed it as a means of obtaining from Spain raw mate-
rials like tungsten, copper and tannin for the Four Year
Plan. Besides, the war distracted attention from Germany’s
rearmament; this led Hitler to reject an anxious suggestion
by his envoy to Franco, General Wilhelm Faupel, for the
despatch of a regular army division to bring the war to a
rapid end.

But the foreign ministry were alarmed at the prospect
that Germany might find herself by accident in open
conflict with Russia, Britain or France. A day or two after
Hitler delivered a “major political speech” to his cabinet on
1 December — of which no note survives — Goéring com-
mented to his department heads: “Russia wants war, Brit-
ain is rearming strongly.” He ordered the Luftwaffe to be
ready for instant action, regardless of the cost. Germany
wanted peace until 1941, Goring told them: “But we can
never be sure that there won’t be complications before
then. We are in a sense already at war, even if not yet a
shooting war.”

By early 1937, the Nazi state could be likened to an atomic
structure. The nucleus was Hitler, surrounded by succes-
sive rings of henchmen. The innermost ring was Goring,
Himmler and Goebbels, privy to his less secret ambitions
and the means he was proposing to employ to realize them.
In the outer rings were the ministers, commanders-in-chief
and diplomats, each aware of only a small sector of the
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plans radiating from the nucleus. Beyond them was the
German people. The whole structure was bound by the
forces of the police state — by the fear of the wiretap, the
letter censors, the Gestapo and ultimately the short, sharp
corrective spells provided by Himmler’s renowned estab-
lishments at Dachau and elsewhere. The outer shell of Nazi
“electrons” was the most unstable — obscure Party hacks,
who might equally achieve a spectacular promotion like
Alfred Rosenberg in 1941, or whirl away suddenly into
oblivion. One of these was Dr. Ernst “Putzi” Hanfstaengl, a
long-time intimate of Hitler, who valued his wit and profi-
ciency as a piano accompanist. The farcical manner of
Putzi’s going casts more light on the nervous, suspicion-
charged atmosphere of 1937 Nazi Berlin than a chapter of
other incidents.

Hanfstaengl lunched one day early in February at the
Chancellery. The conversation turned to the Spanish war
and the soldier’s lot. Hitler’s flabby friend — by now “foreign
press adviser” to the Party — had been at Harvard in 1909,
and passed the World War in U.S. internment. He inter-
jected tactlessly that the courage of an internee far ex-
ceeded any demands made on a soldier in battle. Every-
body choked. Goring, who had commanded the Richthofen
fighter squadron, and Goebbels loudly disagreed. This was
the last time Hitler saw Hanfstaengl. After Hanfstaengl left
the table, the others ominously remained behind, and
hatched a cruel plan to deflate him. Hitler happily ap-
proved it. A few days later, Hanfstaengl was “selected” for a
hazardous mission and handed an envelope to be taken
personally to General Franco; a plane was already waiting.
Bodenschatz — our main source on this — escorted the pal-
pitating Hanfstaengl to the waiting Junkers 52 and bid him
God speed. As film cameras whirred, a parachute was
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strapped on. The purpose of this became apparent when
Hanfstaengl opened the sealed orders from Hitler, which
the pilot now handed him: these briefed him that since
Franco was in the Alcézar at Toledo - a canard that should
at once have raised suspicions! — the brave emissary was to
parachute directly into the besieged fortress to reach him.

The Junkers took off and flew “toward Spain” - in real-
ity, on Hitler’s orders, merely circling for hours over the
now dark Berlin countryside. Then it made an “emergency
landing on an enemy airfield” — in fact at Klein Posen,
twenty miles from Berlin. Hitler waited in Berlin for his
friend’s rueful return — but in vain, for his plot had hilari-
ously misfired. As the plane rolled to a halt, Hanfstaengl
jumped out of the door and vanished into the darkness,
convinced that the Fuhrer had ordered his secret liquida-
tion! He surfaced in neutral Switzerland, then “escaped” to
London, from which foreign capital he guiltily refused to
return. Goring sent Bodenschatz three times to try and per-
suade him. In vain: Hitler’s former crony quivered quietly
in West Kensington until it was too late to return.

In Hanfstaengl’s home the Gestapo found an unflat-
tering manuscript about Hitler’s youth, which probably ex-
plained Hanfstaengl’s guilty reaction to the Fuhrer’s clumsy
prank.

It is unlikely that Hitler would have cared much about
Hanfstaengl’s manuscript. He cared nothing for his public
image either — although he did resist every attempt made by
well-meaning friends to change his “postman’s cap,” his
crinkly boots and his outmoded moustache for styles more
suited to the Thirties. He desired neither present publicity
nor the acclaim of posterity. He wrote to Hans Lammers di-
recting that if the British Who’s Who really insisted on hav-
ing details of his life, they were to be given only the barest
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outline. As he explained years later, in a secret speech to his
generals in 1944 when they protested his harsh decisions on
the Russian front: “It is a matter of supreme indifference to
me what posterity may think.”
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‘One Day, the World’

Hitler’s foreign policy — aside from his central ambition to
march east — was often guided by irrational and emotional
instincts. His intervention in Spain was only one example,
inspired by fellow-feeling more than logic. Early in Novem-
ber 1937 he confidentially told his staff that a total Franco
victory was not desirable for Germany: “Our interest is in
spinning the war out, and maintaining existing tensions in
the Mediterranean.” That Franco was fighting the Commu-
nist-backed Republicans was of only secondary impor-
tance. In April 1938, Hitler mused out loud to Reinhard
Spitzy, Ribbentrop’s private secretary: “You know, we have
backed the wrong horse in Spain. We would have done
better to back the Republicans. They represent the people.
We could always have converted these socialists into good
National Socialists later. The people around Franco are all
reactionary clerics, aristocrats and moneybags - they’ve
nothing in common with us Nazis at all”” (By the summer of
1940, when Hitler was allied to Stalin and he urgently de-
sired permission to march through Spain, he must have re-
gretted even more deeply that he had connived in the Re-
publican defeat; because Franco denied him the permis-
sion.)

His relations with Mussolini were equally illogical,
springing from nothing more substantial than what he
termed in Mein Kampf his “intense admiration of this great
man south of the Alps.” He lavished gifts on the Italian dic-
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tator. Henriette Hoffmann - daughter of Hitler’'s court
photographer — has described how Hitler was to be seen in
his favourite Munich café with a bookbinder, inspecting
leather samples for a presentation set of the philosopher
Nietzsche’s works for Mussolini: Hitler rubbed and stroked
the leather skins, sniffed them and finally rejected them all
with the pronouncement, “The leather must be glacier
green,” — meaning the bleak blue-green of the glaciers from
which Nietzsche’s Zarathustra contemplated the world.
(Hitler was a Nietzsche fan: in his Munich apartment he
kept the silver-knobbed black walking cane with which
Nietzsche had strolled the banks of Lake Geneva with Rich-
ard Wagner.)

Despite Hitler’s official visit to Venice in June 1934,
Mussolini had gone his own way, unimpressed by his Nazi
imitator. Austria remained a bone of contention between
them, particularly after Dollfuss’s murder. Hitler’s aid dur-
ing the Abyssinia crisis had mollified the fascist leader,
however, and now that they were allies in Spain the Duce
began to refer to an “Axis” between Rome and Berlin. In
September 1937 the Duce was Hitler’s guest for a week of
the biggest military manoeuvres in Germany since 1918. His
Italian visitors toured the Krupp steelworks in Essen; Hitler
showed them Germany’s new weapons and machinery —
like the high-pressure steam turbines being built for the
new battlecruiser Scharnhorst. After showing them the blast
furnaces, rolling mills and armour-plate works, Hitler and
Ribbentrop took Mussolini alone into a hall where Krupp
engineers took the tarpaulins off Hitler’s proudest posses-
sion —a gun barrel so huge that it had to be transported on
two parallel railroad tracks. Mussolini stroked it and con-
gratulated the Fuhrer, clearly astonished at the weapon’s
size.
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In Berlin the Duce addressed a crowd of 750,000. His
German was fluent, enabling him later to confer in private
with Hitler without any interpreters present. Afterward, a
cloudburst brought Berlin’s traffic to a standstill. Mussolini
was soaked to the skin. At the President’s Palace, where he
was staying, the Duce encountered German officialdom at
its most mulish, for a house rule dating back to the mists of
Prussian history prohibited residents from drawing hot
water for baths after 7 .M. Hitler never forgave Hinden-
burg’s ancient secretary, Otto Meissner, for this, and after-
ward used Chateau Bellevue in Berlin as the official guest
house instead.

According to his new Luftwaffe adjutant, Major Nico-
laus von Below, Hitler kept harking back over the weeks
that followed to the Mussolini visit and the Wehrmacht
manoeuvres that had accompanied it. They stirred deep
within him a train of thought which was to come to the
surface early in November.

The German public found Hitler’s interest in Mussolini as
incomprehensible as his shift from a pro-Chinese to a pro-
Japanese policy in the Far East. Until 1937 Blomberg, the
army and the foreign ministry had persuaded him to
maintain an influential mission in China, headed first by
Seeckt himself and more lately by General Alexander von
Falkenhausen. The expectation was that the Chinese
leader, Chiang Kai-shek, would exchange raw materials for
German guns, ammunition and arms factories. But now
Hitler’s self-confident interference in Germany’s traditional
foreign policies began. He saw Chiang as corrupt and wife-
dominated, and predicted that Chiang’s lack of contact
with the people would drive the Chinese into the arms of
the Bolsheviks.
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The Nazis mistakenly identified with the Samurai tra-
dition of Japan; whereas the foreign ministry’s Far East ex-
perts saw much closer ideological affinities to Chiang and
the Kuomintang. In 1936 German-Japanese staff talks began
in Berlin through the efforts of the Japanese military atta-
ché, General Hirosho Oshima, and Ribbentrop’s bureau.
They were followed by the signature of the largely valueless
“Anti-Comintern Pact.” Again the horrified Neurath was left
in the dark until the last moment. After the Japanese decla-
ration of war on China in June 1937, Hitler cancelled Ger-
man aid to China and turned a deaf ear on all advice that
the chaos of war would advance Bolshevism in the Far East.
Ribbentrop now openly demanded a military Tripartite
Pact between Germany, Japan and ltaly, “in anticipation of
the inevitable conflict with the western powers.” The pact
was signed in Rome on 6 November 1937. It was concrete
evidence of Hitler’s growing disenchantment with the Brit-
ish — a trend which Neurath had first noted after Musso-
lini’s visit to Germany in September.

Ever since 1922 Hitler had looked on Britain as a future
partner to dominate the world. He frankly admired the
ruthlessness with which the British had grasped their em-
pire, and the hardness in adversity with which they had
preserved it since. He had devoured volumes of English
folklore. He knew that the three white rings on sailors’ col-
lars denoted Admiral Horatio Nelson’s great victories. He
had repeatedly affirmed, “The collapse of the British Em-
pire would be a great misfortune for Germany and all
Europe.” He sketched vague plans for putting Germany’s
new army at Britain’s disposal if ever her colonies in the Far
East should be attacked.

Ribbentrop shared these improbable sentiments. He
claimed personal acquaintance with influential English-
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men. (When Hitler pointed this out to Goéring, the unchari-
table reply was: “Yes, but the trouble is that they know Rib-
bentrop.”) Hitler had wanted to make him Neurath’s state
secretary, but since their ambassador in London had just
died, Ribbentrop begged that posting instead — promising
to win for Hitler the British alliance he coveted. He had al-
ready introduced numerous influential Englishmen to the
Fuhrer. In 1945 the Americans captured the transcripts of
some of these interviews — with Lord Beaverbrook, pro-
prietor of the Daily Express, on 22 November 1935; with
Stanley Baldwin’s private secretary, T. E. Jones, on 17 May
1936; with the conductor Sir Thomas Beecham on 13 No-
vember 1936, and with numerous others. Unhappily these
documents have since vanished, as have several others re-
lating to Ribbentrop’s dealings with the British. In 1941,
Ribbentrop explained to the Turkish diplomat Acikalin: “I
know I'm regarded in many quarters as the Fuhrer’s ‘evil
genius’ in regard to foreign affairs. But the fact is | always
advised the Fuhrer to do his utmost to bring about Britain’s
friendship. . . . I warned the Fuhrer in 1935 that in my view
Britain was steering toward war.” Now, as ambassador in
London, Ribbentrop secretly offered Baldwin an “offensive
and defensive alliance”: he told his staff two years later it
had been refused.

Ribbentrop had been cordially received in London, but
his position was soon weakened in his other capacity as the
German delegate on the Non-Intervention Committee on
Spain. He became the butt of mounting criticism in London
(in justice, it must be added that his successor in 1938 and
1939 fared no better). An unprecedented and counter-pro-
ductive newspaper campaign began against Hitler and Rib-
bentrop, which the embarrassed Whitehall officials ex-
plained they were powerless, in a democracy, to curb. It
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was a tragedy that Hitler knew so few Englishmen: he had
met the Mitfords, Sir Oswald Mosley, Lord Rothermere, the
journalist Ward Price; and Major-General J. F. C. Fuller, the
acknowledged British tank expert, had also confidentially
seen him. In September 1936, Britain’s former prime min-
ister, David Lloyd George, spent two weeks in Germany as
his guest. He admiringly wrote in the Daily Express how
Hitler had united Catholic and Protestant, employer and
artisan, rich and poor into one people — Ein Volk, in fact.
(The British press magnate Cecil King wrote in his diary
four years later, “Lloyd George mentioned meeting Hitler
and spoke of him as the greatest figure in Europe since Na-
poleon and possibly greater than him. He said we had not
had to deal with an austere ascetic like Hitler since the days
of Attila and his Huns.”) They reminisced about the World

(Left) Joachim von Ribbentrop, Hitler’s new foreign minister,
made the diplomatic service wholly subservient to the Party.
He cultivated leading Nazis like SS Reichsfiihrer Heinrich
Himmler (on the right).

(Right) Hitler trusted Ribbentrop’s views on Britain implicitly.
(JOACHIM VON RIBBENTROP COLLECTION; NATIONAL ARCHIVES)
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War, and Hitler ventured an immodest estimate of how it
would have ended had he been chancellor then. Lloyd
George revealed that in 1918 the British were on the point of
throwing in the sponge, since Field Marshal Earl Haig had
indicated that the Allied offensive could not continue much
longer. This was a flattering exaggeration, but Hitler did not
tire of repeating the point to his weary generals when their
own war entered its bleaker years.

At the end of May 1937, Blomberg reported back to
Hitler on the coronation ceremonies in London. The widow
of King George V, he said, had implored him to avoid a
repetition of 1914. Hitler could only manage a sceptical re-
ply. In June, there was another contact with the Anglo-
Saxon world when Mr. Mackenzie King, the somewhat ec-
centric Canadian premier, had a confidential two-hour talk
with him (he wrote in his voluminous diary his favourable
impressions of the Nazis’ “constructive” work). But to Hit-
ler the flavour of all the reports from London was that Brit-
ain had resumed a barely concealed rearmament effort,
particularly of the RAF, and there was therefore a real time
limit on achieving his secret strategic ambitions. His mili-
tary attaché, Baron Geyr von Schweppenburg, reported
from London on 19 February 1937: “In any war, time will
work for Britain, but only if she can survive initial defeats
which would make it impossible for her to fight on.” Geyr’s
further despatches in 1937 repeated the warnings about
Britain’s growing strength. Hitler’s bitterness at this was
obvious. Hjalmar Schacht ascribed it to Hitler’s annoyance
that the British had merely “pocketed” the naval agreement
— whereby Germany had voluntarily limited her own war-
ship and submarine construction — and had not made any
equal contribution to Anglo-American relations. Hitler had
explained to Ribbentrop in 1935 that he was not proposing

102



to repeat Admiral von Tirpitz’s earlier error in getting in-
volved in an arms race; he was going to concede naval su-
premacy to the British, and hope that they would make him
a similar concession with regard to Germany’s future land
armies. Over the next years, however, it was clear that the
British were not offering any such quid pro quo, and in
September 1938 the German naval staff was sadly to sum-
marize: “The realization has dawned on the navy and the
Fuhrer over the last one and a half years that, in contrast to
what the Fuhrer had hoped for at the time of the signing of
the naval agreement, Britain cannot be excluded as a pos-
sible future enemy.”

Hitler had certainly not anticipated this “estrange-
ment” between Britain and Germany. In April 1935 the then
German ambassador in London, Leopold von Hoesch, had
convincingly reported the pro-German, indeed pro-Nazi
inclinations of Britain’s Prince of Wales. The 41-year-old
heir to the throne dramatically disapproved of the anti-
German policies of the Foreign Office, and “fully under-
stood that Germany wished to face the other nations
squarely, with her head held high.” In June 1935 he made
such an emphatic declaration of friendship to Germany in a
public speech that his father, King George V, had to rebuke
him and remind him of the constitutional restraints placed
on the British throne. Upon his assumption of the throne a
few months later, King Edward VIII made no secret of his
belief that only an Anglo-German alliance would preserve
Europe from fresh warfare and ruin. In January 1936 a fel-
low Etonian, the duke of Saxe-Coburg Gotha, asked him
confidentially whether a discussion between Prime Minis-
ter Baldwin and Hitler might be desirable; as the duke re-
ported to Hitler, the new monarch replied, “Who is king
here? Baldwin or 1? I myself wish to talk to Hitler, and will
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do so here or in Germany. Tell him that, please.” The duke’s
illuminating report continues,

The king is resolved to concentrate the business of
government on himself. For England, not too easy.
The general political situation, especially the
situation of England herself, will perhaps give him
a chance. His sincere resolve to bring Germany
and England together would be made more diffi-
cult if it were made public too early. For this rea-
son | regard it as most important to respect the
king’s wish that the non-official policy of Germany
toward England should be firmly concentrated in
one hand and at the same time brought into rela-
tions of confidence with the official policy. The, in
this respect, peculiar mentality of the Englishman
must be taken into account if we want to achieve
success — which undoubtedly is attainable.

The king asked me to visit him frequently in
order that confidential matters might be more
speedily clarified in this way. | promised - subject
to the Fuhrer’s approval - to fly to London at any
time he wished.

Not much is known of the secret contacts that followed
between Hitler and King Edward VIII. Hitler was to claim
on 13 May 1942 that the king had offered to meet Germany’s
colonial needs by allowing Germans to settle northern
Australia, thereby creating a powerful shield for British in-
terests against Japan. Hitler regarded the abdication crisis
of 1936 as a pretext by the king’s enemies to remove him on
account of his pro-German feelings. The British cabinet re-
cords of those weeks are closed until the twenty-first cen-
tury, but they probably throw little light on the real back-
ground of the abdication anyway: the British government,
records Edward VIII's biographer, were anxious to confine
the issue to the simple one of his marriage “and there is no
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doubt that they succeeded.”* But Hitler was in no doubt,
and told Julius Schaub and others on his staff that the es-
trangement would not have occurred had Edward VIII re-
mained on the throne. His successor, King George VI, was
weak and vacillating, said Hitler, and wholly in the grip of
his “evil and anti-German advisers.” When Edward, now
Duke of Windsor, visited Berchtesgaden in October 1937 he
told Hitler much that confirmed this view. Ribbentrop
found in the duke “something akin to a British National So-
cialist.” Unfortunately, the record of their meeting has
vanished from the captured files.

A less tangible reason for Hitler’s restlessness was the reali-
zation that the years were slipping by, while his grand de-
sign was remaining unfulfilled.

The same uninspiring faces assembled — with dimin-
ishing regularity — in the cabinet room; the agenda labour-
ed under the same suffocating minutiae of state. A civil ser-
vant, the Gestapo official Werner Best, who sat in on one

such meeting in 1937, found Hitler had become “in-
creasingly nervous, bad-tempered,